

LUND UNIVERSITY

Identification of Unique Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties

Nygren, Jens

2005

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Nygren, J. (2005). *Identification of Unique Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Stem Cell Center]. Lund Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Identification of Unique Hematopoietic Stem Cell Properties

by

JENS NYGREN

Hematopoietic Stem Cell Laboratory Lund Strategic Research Center for Stem Cell Biology and Cell Therapy Faculty of Medicine, Lund University

With the approval of the Lund University Faculty of Medicine, this thesis will be defended on November 25, 2005, at 9:00, in Segerfalksalen, BMC, Lund.

Faculty opponent: Prof. Ihor Lemischka, Department of Molecular Biology, Princeton University, Princeton, USA

> Lund University 2005

Till Josefine och Max

On the cover

Infarcted left ventricular myocardium with spared endocardium (red) and donor derived (green) blood cells (white). Cell nuclei are in blue.

ORIGINAL PAPERS IN THIS THESIS

The thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-III).

- I Bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells generate cardiomyocytes at a low frequency through cell fusion, but not transdifferentiation. Jens <u>M. Nygren</u>, Stefan Jovinge, Martin Breitbach, Petter Säwén, Wilhelm Röll, Jörgen Hescheler, Jalal Taneera, Bernd K. Fleischmann, Sten Eirik W. Jacobsen. *Nature Medicine*. 2004 10(5):494-501
- II. Lymphocytes contribute to non-hematopoietic cell lineages during development. Jens M. Nygren, Karina Liuba, Simon Stott, Martin Breitbach, Stefan Jovinge, Wilhelm Röll, Deniz Kirik, Bernd K. Fleischmann, Anders Björklund, Sten Eirik W. Jacobsen. (2005) Submitted
- III. Uniquely protracted G₁ transit of self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells. Jens M. Nygren, David Bryder and Sten Eirik W. Jacobsen. (2005) Submitted

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	8
HEMATOPOIESIS	9
THE HEMATOPOIETIC SYSTEM	9
THE BLOOD CELLS	10
THE IMMUNE RESPONSE	13
DEVELOPMENT OF HEMATOPOIESIS	14
EMBRYONIC HEMATOPOIESIS	14
ORIGIN OF DEFINITIVE HEMATOPOIESIS	16
HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS	17
DEFINITIONS	18
REGULATION	21
FATE DECISIONS	24
THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES	27
LEUKEMIAS	27
BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION	29
EX VIVO EXPANSION	29
STEM CELLS AND SOMATIC PLASTICITY	31
TRANSDIFFERENTIATION	32
HETEROTYPIC CELL FUSION	34
ASSAYS TO STUDY HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS	37
PURIFICATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS	37
EVALUATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS	39

FOCUS OF THE PRESENT STUDIES	42
CARDIOMYOCYTE POTENTIAL AND HETEROTYPIC	43
FUSION OF HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS (PAPER I AND II)	
AIMS	44
SUMMARY	44
CONCLUSIONS	47
HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL CYCLE (PAPER III)	48
AIMS	49
SUMMARY	49
CONCLUSIONS	50
SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	52
PAPERS AND MANUSCRIPTS NOT IN THE THESIS	54
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	55
REFERENCES	58
APPENDICES	71
PAPER I	
PAPER II	
PAPER III	

ABBREVIATIONS

AGM	Aorta, gonads and mesonephros
ALL	Acute lymphoid leukemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
BM	Bone marrow
CFU-S	Colony forming unit spleen
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
СМР	Common myeloid progenitor
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dpc	days post conception
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
Flt3	C-fms like tyrosine kinase 3
G_0/G_1	Cell cycle phases Gap 0 and Gap 1
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GMP	Granulocyte macrophage progenitor
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
IL	Interleukin
lacZ	β-galactosidase gene
LMPP	Lymphoid primed progenitor
LT	Long-term
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndromes
MkEP	Megakaryocyte erythroid progenitor
NK cell	Natural killer cell
P-Sp	Para-aortic splanchnopleura
PCV	Polycytemia Vera
$S/G_2/M$	Cell cycle phases Synthesis, Gap 2 and Mitosis
SCID	Severe combined immuno-deficiency
ST	Short-term

HEMATOPOIESIS

Since the beginning of time, man has admired Nature. Through the ages he has illustrated, hypothesized and described it to somewhat come closer to understanding it. This is particularly true when it comes to science, where one of our strongest inspirations, to look for the unknown or explain the unexplained, is our respect and admiration toward what we explore. To me, perfection in Nature is when it acts in balance and synergy to create something bigger than itself. No matter if it is molecules interacting in a cell membrane, bacteria absorbing nitrogen in the roots of a plant or a wolf pack hunting a prey. When autonomous units in Nature work in synergy, with a common goal and purpose, they become something bigger than the sum of what they are as independent units.

In all vertebrates and some invertebrates hematopoietic cells act in synergy to create a defense against infections. Each of the different hematopoietic cell types has their own function and properties, but it is only when they act in tight collaboration that they constitute a highly specific and efficient immune defense that can fight infections from invading pathogens. All these hematopoietic cell types are continuously produced in the **bone marrow** (BM) by rare stem cells that persist throughout life of the organism, the **hematopoietic stem cells** (HSC).

THE HEMATOPOIETIC SYSTEM

The HSCs produce hundred of millions ($\sim 2.4 \times 10^8$) of new blood cells everyday to meet the demands of the immune system (1). To understand the purpose and necessity of normal blood cell production (**hematopoiesis**) from these stem cells it is important to know what cells they produce as well as their properties and

actions. Hematopoiesis is highly conserved through evolution and is largely similar between lower vertebrates and mammals (2, 3). The focus of this thesis is on mouse HSCs, but conceptually most aspects can be translated into humans as well.

THE BLOOD CELLS

Microorganisms (pathogens) such as viruses, bacteria, fungi and parasites, cause infectious diseases. In 1796 Edward Jenner discovered that cowpox, or vaccinia, through vaccination gave protection against human smallpox, a pioneering discovery that gave one of the first clues on how the immune system works and that paved the way toward eradication of smallpox in 1979. Today, we know that the primary elements behind this **adaptive immune response** are immunoglobulins that bind to the pathogen, and that they are produced by lymphocytes. Other cells and molecular components make out the **innate immune response** following infections, and have a more direct action against pathogens, mainly through phagocytosis and destruction (4).

The hematopoietic blood cells (Figure 1), originate in the BM from a common precursor, the HSC (1). Differentiation from these precursors to the mature blood cells is a tightly regulated multi-step process involving close interaction with other cells and soluble factors in the BM microenvironment and results in the production of various mature blood cell types (1). Among these are **platelets** and **erythrocytes**, that are produced by the millions each day by the megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitor (MkEP) and released to the circulation (5). Large megakaryocytes shed small enuclear platelets that circulate in the blood and participate in blood clotting. Erythrocytes are the most common blood cells and deliver oxygen from the lungs to the tissues via the blood. They lack nucleus and organelles and have a biconcave shape that allows optimal exchange of oxygen and makes them flexible to fit through tiny capillaries. Both platelets and erythrocytes are fairly short-lived and destroyed in the spleen.

Granulocytes and **macrophages** are involved in the innate immune response and their production, from the granulocyte/macrophage progenitor (GMP), can be exponentially increased in the BM to enable release of large number of cells that migrate to sites of infection or inflammation (5). The **neutrophils**, **basophils** and **eosinophils** are all granulocytic cells and have a short life-span following release into the circulation. Neutrophils are phagocytes and the most important component of the innate immune response, indispensable for the defense from bacterial infections. Basophils and eosinophils are mainly important in the defense against parasitic infections. Macrophages are the mature form of immature circulating monocytes that differentiate upon



Figure 1. A model for the hierarchical differentiation from HSCs into the specialized blood cell types through committed progenitor cells with limited self-renewing capacity.

migration into tissues and are an important component of the innate immune defense by fast clearance of pathogens and infected cells through phagocytosis. **Mast cells** are very similar to basophils but originate from a different precursor in the BM (6). The role of mast cells in the immune response is mainly in the protection of mucosal surfaces but they play also a role in the allergic response. The above cell types are all commonly referred to as **myeloid cells** and originate from common myeloid progenitors (CMP) or lymphoid primed progenitors (LMPP) in the BM (Figure 1).

Lymphoid cells originate from common lymphoid progenitors (CLP), that are the offspring of LMPPs in the BM (7), and consist of Natural killer (NK) cells, B cells and T cells (Figure 1). The NK cells are a component of the innate immune defense. B and T cells are effectors of the adaptive immune response and are small with few organelles and condensed nuclear chromatin, typical of inactive cells. They have no functional activity until they encounter specific antigens that bind to highly specific receptors on their cell membrane and stimulate proliferation and differentiation (4). The receptors on each cell recognize only one type of antigen, but together the total receptor repertoire of all cells recognizes a wide diversity of antigens. B cells mature in the BM and bear receptors on their membranes that have the same specificity as the antibodies they will release when they, upon activation, differentiate into antibody producing plasma cells (4). T cells are generated in the thymus but their progenitors have a BM origin and migrate to the thymic microenvironment (8, 9) for maturation into the two main types of T cells (cytotoxic and helper T cells) (4). These both bear receptors that are highly specific for a variety of antigens. Foreign protein fragments, presented on major histocompatibility complex receptors, on pathogen-infected cells are recognized by receptors on cytotoxic T cells and leads to destruction of the infected cell. The helper T cells regulate the activity of other hematopoietic cells like B cells and macrophages. When the B cells and T cells have matured in the BM and thymus respectively,

they migrate to the peripheral blood and the peripheral lymphoid organs (lymph nodes, spleen and mucosal lymphoid tissues) where phagocytic cells carrying antigens from sites of infection interfere with receptors on B and T cells to initiate the adaptive immune response.

THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

The action of these immune effector cells following an infection results in an immune response with the purpose of eliminating the pathogen, as is described very generalized below. Upon infection, phagocytes and other components of the innate immune system provide a first line of defense. These cells have receptors that recognize mostly bacterial surface antigens triggering phagocytosis or secretion of factors that lead to responses commonly known as inflammation. As the diversity of these receptors is low and limits the specificity of the innate immune response, a complementary system involving the lymphoid cells has evolved to enable fast and versatile adaptation to changes in pathogen recognition (4).

The cytotoxic T cells eliminate cells in the organism that have been infected by pathogens (mostly viruses). The foreign proteins produced in the infected cell are presented on the cell membrane and as they are recognized as non-self antigens by the receptors on the cytotoxic T cells, this leads to the killing of that particular cell. Upon binding of an antigen to the immunoglobulin receptors on a B cell and activation by interaction with a helper T cell, the B cell starts to proliferate to generate a clone of cells with identical antigen specificity. This is followed by differentiation into plasma cells that secrete antibodies that are the soluble forms of their immunoglobulin receptors. The binding of antibodies to antigens leads to activation of the innate immune response, resulting in neutralization, opsonization or plasma protein (complement) activation and ingestion of the pathogen by phagocytic cells. As remnants of the clones of activated B cells are preserved for a long time after an adaptive immune response, subsequent infections from the same type of pathogen result in a much more efficient activation of the immune response and therefore also prevents the pathogen from establishing and expanding to generate a disease (4). It was this mechanism that Edward Jenner discovered and that is now widely used to provide protection against pathogen infections by vaccination.

DEVELOPMENT OF HEMATOPOIESIS

The onset of production of the broad repertoire of hematopoietic cells is an early event in embryonic development to meet the demands of oxygen transportation as the embryo becomes larger and to provide an early defense against pathogens. For this, an exponential increase in the production of blood cells from HSCs is required.

EMBRYONIC HEMATOPOIESIS

In mouse development, gastrulation starts 7.5 days post conception (dpc) and leads to the formation of ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. During this process the extra- and intra-embryonic regions, the **yolk sac** and embryo proper, are established. In the yolk sac, cell aggregates called blood islands are formed and contain cells of both hematopoietic and endothelial lineages (Figure 2). These develop in close contact, and perhaps from a common progenitor cell known as the hemangioblast (10-12). Commitment during development toward a hematopoietic fate occurs through the influence of various transcription factors, such as Tal-1/SCL, AML-1, Lmo2 and GATA-2, and results in the formation of committed **primitive hematopoietic precursor cells** (13). In the yolk sac such primitive precursors have a myelo-erythroid potential and mostly produce monocytes, for infectious defense in the placenta, and primitive erythrocytes, that are large, nucleated and produce embryonic globins (14). This early burst of

extra-embryonic erythrocyte production is necessary for oxygen transport within the embryo as it grows bigger, when oxygen diffusion from maternal circulation becomes insufficient (15). The yolk sac remains a hematopoietic organ until the embryo itself can support blood cell production by around 11.5 dpc.

Within the embryo, a region comprising the rudiments of the dorsal aorta and surrounding splanchnic mesoderm forms at around 8.5-10 dpc and in this region the development of **definitive HSCs** initiates (16-18). This area, named the **para-aortic splanchnopleura** (P-Sp), later develops into the **aorta**, **gonads** and **mesonephros** (AGM) at 10-12 dpc (Figure 2). Hematopoietic precursor cell activity can be identified by 10.5 dpc in a region of the mesenchyme surrounding and within the dorsal side of the aorta (16-18). These precursors support definitive hematopoiesis, produce small, enucleated erythrocytes expressing adult globins and develop into the definitive HSCs. As these HSCs mature, they migrate and enter the blood circulation (19, 20) to colonize the **liver** (21) (Figure 2). In the fetal liver environment, the HSCs proliferate and self-renew rapidly to expand their numbers and to meet the growing requirements of the hematopoietic system (22-24). This is reflected by a longterm repopulation potential that exceeds that of adult HSCs (24-26). The fetal liver (12-14 dpc) hematopoiesis alleviates the necessity of yolk sac



Figure 2. Spatial and temporal development of primitive and definitive hematopoiesis in the mouse embryo.

erythropoiesis, and the yolk sac hematopoietic precursors thereafter undergo programmed cell death and disappear. Thus, erythrocyte globin switching, from fetal to adult, might be due to changes in cell populations rather than transcription. By the end of pregnancy, hematopoiesis in the liver transfers through the migration of HSCs to the **BM** (19, 20, 27), which remains the main hematopoietic organ throughout life (1) (Figure 2). Both HSCs and mesenchymal progenitor cells (with osteogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic potential), that are present in most of the sites harboring HSCs throughout ontogeny, home to and develop niches supporting self-renewal in the primary hematopoietic organs (fetal liver, BM and spleen) as these tissues develop in the fetus (19, 27-29). Whether such colonization of niches supporting hematopoiesis during mid-gestation is a multi-wave process or the result of a constant flow of rare HSCs in the fetal blood is under debate (19, 20, 27). Probably low numbers of HSCs are constantly circulating both before and after their expansion and maturation in the fetal liver.

ORIGIN OF DEFINITIVE HEMATOPOIESIS

Both embryonal and adult hematopoiesis is hierarchical and differentiation occurs through distinct progenitor subsets (30). This suggests that the molecular mechanisms underlying cell fate decisions are conserved from embryo to adult. Erythropoiesis and necessary but limited blood cell production in the embryo can be provided by both primitive hematopoietic precursors in the blood islands of the yolk sac and definitive HSCs forming in the P-Sp/AGM region. Nevertheless, intra-embryonic definitive HSCs are the sole precursors of the adult HSCs that supply HSC activity throughout life (15), and no further HSCs are generated during late fetal and neonatal stages of development (31).

The origin of intra-embryonic definitive HSCs has been under debate as to whether they are descendants from the primitive yolk sac derived precursors, dependent on primitive hematopoietic cells for proper maturation within the embryo or originate independently from definitive hematopoietic precursors. Studies by Moore and Metcalf in 1970 (32) suggested that the yolk sac is required for both primitive and definitive hematopoiesis in mice. Culture of precirculation 7 dpc embryos from which the yolk sac had been removed developed without blood cell formation, whereas 7 dpc yolk sac alone yielded abundant hematopoietic colonies. These findings have been challenged by more recent and similar studies suggesting that definitive HSCs are only of intra-embryonic origin and that the yolk sac cells can only provide short-term myelopoiesis (33, 34). A third option, that requires advanced lineage tracing experiments to address (31), could be that extra- and intra-embryonic hematopoietic cells share the same precursor in the yolk sac and P-Sp/AGM region of the developing embryo. Their distinct developmental fates would then be determined by extrinsic environmental cues that are different in extra- and intra-embryonic niches (35-38). In support of this, transplantations of Xenopus yolk sac-like region to the AGM-like region causes these cells to adopt a definitive fate (39).

HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

In the early 1960s, McCulloch and Till performed a series of ground breaking experiments to investigate the existence of stem cells in the BM with multipotent and self-renewing capacity. The experiments involved injection of BM cells into irradiated mice and subsequent evaluation of visible nodules from the transplanted cells in the spleens of the mice. Nodules appeared in proportion to the number of BM cells injected and arose from single BM cells (40), named colony forming units spleen (CFU-S). That these CFU-S were able to self-renew (41), which is a crucial aspect of the functional definition of stem cells, was the first true evidence for the existence of an adult HSC in the BM. The following

chapter is a conceptual, rather than detailed, introduction into HSCs, their identity, regulation and fate.

DEFINITIONS

At the end of fetal maturation, the BM is the primary hematopoietic organ. The seeding of HSCs to the BM during late gestation is a uniform process, without regional patterning, that results in a homogeneous distribution to the different BM compartments without spatial differences in hematopoiesis or HSC identities (42). The majority of cells in the BM are maturing blood cells and their progenitors, and the HSCs therefore constitute a rare population of less than one in 15,000 BM cells (43). The identity of these rare BM HSCs cannot be recognized by their morphology and phenotype alone, but only by unique functional properties that distinguish them from all other cells in the hematopoietic organs (44-46).

Adult HSCs are largely **quiescent**, in that their transit through the **cell cycle** is slow or even arrested at times. This is reflected by as few as 8% of the HSCs entering cell cycle each day, but nonetheless within 4-8 weeks most have divided at least once (47, 48). The cell cycle is the series of events in a eukaryotic cell from one cell division to the next (Figure 3). It consists of distinct phases (49) in which the cell undertakes sequential actions like growth and preparation of the chromosomes for replication (G_1 phase), DNA synthesis to duplicate the chromosomes (**S phase**), additional growth and preparation for cell division of the cell into two daughter cells. The cell cycle is regulated at **checkpoints** (49-51) during each phase-transition by cyclins that form complexes with cyclin-dependent kinases (49, 52). This cyclin-based surveillance system acts as a quality control that monitors the cell as it progresses through the cell cycle. Checkpoints can block progression through one phase if certain conditions are not met. For instance, mitosis is inhibited

until DNA replication is completed or if not all chromosomes are attached to the mitotic spindle. If this system senses a problem, a network of signaling molecules instructs the cell to stop dividing to either repair the damage or initiate programmed cell death. This ensures that damaged cells are not further propagated and do not progress into a cancerous state.

Some cells leave the cell cycle at the G_1 phase following a cell division and enter a quiescent G_0 stage (51). Often G_0 cells are terminally differentiated and have therefore permanently exited the cell cycle whereas other cells, like the HSCs, are only temporally quiescent and can upon mitotic stimulation re-enter G_1 and prepare for additional cell cycles (47). HSCs take a longer time than committed progenitor cells to respond to growth factor stimulation, as they first



Figure 3. The HSC cell cycle with distinct G_0 and G_1 phases typical of quiescent cells. Indicated are three major cell cycle checkpoints. At the G_1 checkpoint it is controlled whether the cell is big enough and the environment suitable to proceed. At the G_2 checkpoint it is verified that DNA replication has been completed and successful and at the M checkpoint that chromosomes are properly aligned and attached to the mitotic spindle.

need to get activated to re-enter the cell cycle. Thus, the relative unresponsiveness of HSCs to mitogenic stimuli (47, 53, 54) might reflect their predominant G_0 state. Distinct regulation of the cell cycle activity of HSCs by factors known to limit proliferation and differentiation (55-60) could be a requirement to avoid exhaustion of the HSC compartment (61) and represent a defining stem cell property. Active cell cycling have been suggested to exert negative effects on stem cell function (62-66). This can at least in part be an interpretation of experimental observations as the design of such experiments have assumed both that dividing hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells have a similar cell cycle transit time and that HSCs are identifiable by phenotype alone.

As HSCs divide, they produce daughter cells that are identical replicas. Such self-renewing cell divisions are a hallmark of stem cells and necessary to maintain a constant HSCs pool and lifelong production of all blood cell types (41). Maintenance of the HSC pool can be the result of either asymmetrical cell divisions (67) that results in one cell that is identical to the mother cell and one cell that is committed to differentiation. Similar maintenance could also be the result of a balance of symmetrical cell divisions leading to either complete selfrenewal or differentiation (i.e. result in either two HSCs or two committed daughter cells). Nevertheless, HSC asymmetric cell divisions must occur at some point during development and multilineage differentiation of committed cells (68). Cell intrinsic alterations, through yet undiscovered mechanisms, occur as the HSC age (69, 70) and DNA damage accumulates over time due to their high number of cell divisions. This is limited by tight control over selfrenewal and proliferation by several regulatory pathways, such as the Bmi-1 (59), Wnt (71), Gfi-1 (57) and c-Myc (72) pathways, and DNA integrity is maintained through cell cycle checkpoint surveillance (55) and the exclusive preservation of the chromosome ends (telomeres) by the reverse transcriptase telomerase (73-75).

HSCs are **multipotent** and the sole precursor in adults that can produce all the different types of hematopoietic blood cells. The mechanisms that underlie and direct the multilineage commitment processes are still largely unknown but a descriptive model (Figure 1) of the differentiation process has been established (43, 76). In this, self-renewing and multipotent **long-term HSCs** (LT-HSC) exist throughout life (46). Their committed progeny irreversibly transit into **short-term HSCs** (ST-HSC) that are also multipotent but contribute to hematopoiesis for a shorter time (less than 6-8 weeks) as they are no longer capable of extensive self-renewal (43, 77). The ST-HSCs next commit and becomes **progenitors** with more restricted lineage potentials and these in hand develop along certain cell lineage pathways with sequential restrictions in lineage potential and gene expression as a consequence (5, 7, 76).

Under physiological conditions, but more pronounced during stress, HSCs **migrate** in and out of the BM compartment. This occurs at a very low frequency (78-80) by a mechanism that can be stimulated by exogenous cytokine treatment (81). The purpose and regulation of this migratory activity is not completely understood but might play a role in the seeding of HSCs to other niches within the BM (79, 80) or other organs (82). Efficient homing from the liver to the BM during fetal development (20) and to the BM following therapeutic or experimental transplantation (45) has been suggested to be a unique property of HSCs.

Taken together, quiescence, lifelong maintenance of HSCs and multilineage blood cell production are unique properties possessed by HSCs alone.

REGULATION

In light of the relatively short life span of a mouse (~2-3 years depending on strain) the low cell cycle activity among HSCs, with a population turnover of up to six months (48), is remarkable. If the steady state is disrupted, for example by pathogen infection or hemorrhage, HSCs are rapidly activated to meet the

demands on increased blood cell production. Similarly, following manipulative treatments such as myeloablation and BM transplantation, HSCs react by rapid expansion in the recipient (61, 75, 83) and under the influence of exogenous growth factors, commitment, migration or even self-renewal might occur (81, 84, 85). Taken together, this argues that the activity of the HSC needs to be tightly regulated to fulfill the requirements of the organism in different physiological conditions. It is currently unknown which state is the default fate (if any) of HSCs but most likely it is to commit and differentiate (Figure 4). Thus all other fate decisions, including to remain uncommitted, need to be influenced by various **extrinsic** and **intrinsic** regulatory factors. Identification of these factors and their signaling pathways has been one of the main focuses of hematological research, as knowledge on how HSCs are regulated would allow manipulation for therapeutic purposes.

Extrinsic factors are produced either by the stem cells themselves or by surrounding stromal cells and bind to molecules (receptors) on the cell membrane of the stem cell (Figure 5). Their effect can be long range, as soluble molecules, or local, through direct cell-to-cell contact between stem cells and adjacent cells (86). The stromal cells and their products are spatially distributed



Figure 4. Default fate of HSCs, commitment and differentiation?



Figure 5. Intrinsic versus extrinsic influence on HSCs.

into niches that differ in their HSC maintenance capacity and therefore homing of HSCs and hematopoietic progenitor cells to different niches affects their fate and regulation of hematopoiesis (87-89).

The best evidence for such stem cell niches has been found in the Drosophila testis where germline stem cells surround apical hub cells at the tip of the testis, which provide self-renewing signals (90, 91). As the stem cells divide, the daughter cell that keeps contact with the hub cells, and thereby continues to receive self-renewing signals, retains a stem cell identity. The other daughter cell that is relocated away from the hub cells initiates differentiation. In the BM, similar regional patterning of self-renewing signals has been found within the endosteal zone lining the bone surface in the marrow cavity (87-89), with a gradient decreasing toward the central zone of the marrow space. In support of this, the majority of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells has long since been known to be distributed preferentially along the bone surface (92-94). These findings suggest that fate determination of HSCs within the endosteal zone occurs in a similar fashion as for germline stem cells in Drosophila testes, where the fate of the two daughter cells from a dividing HSC is determined by their attachment to or displacement from the stem cell-supportive cells that make up the stem cell niche.

The asymmetry of the two daughter cells derived from HSC self-renewing divisions might also be due to asymmetric distribution of intrinsic factors (Figure 5), such as transcription factors, during cell division (68, 95). Most likely, HSC regulation is a complex process involving both intrinsic and extrinsic factors that can be both counteracting and synergistic. For example, asymmetric cell division might be dependent on extrinsic signals that prime HSCs for subsequent intrinsic regulation and might explain why extensive efforts to *ex vivo* expand HSCs so far has, with some exceptions, been fruitless (96-102).

FATE DECISIONS

Following a HSC division, the interaction of the two daughter cells with their environment results in fate decisions that determine the destiny of each particular cell and such interaction continues throughout the life of the cell (Figure 6). The newly formed cells can either return to a **quiescent state** as the parental HSC, carry on a second **self-renewing** asymmetric (or symmetric expanding) cell division, **commit to differentiate** along a certain lineage pathway or **migrate** to a distant site that offers suitable environment for either of the fates above (103). If the environment does not support any of these possibilities, a last option is to undergo **programmed cell death** (apoptosis)



Figure 6. The potential fate decisions of HSCs depending on extrinsic and intrinsic regulation.



Figure 7. Regulation of HSC fate decisions by intrinsic stochastic events and deterministic events due to extrinsic factors.

which is an important regulator of hematopoietic homeostasis (103).

The regulation of HSC fate decisions (Figure 7) is most likely a combination of **stochastic (random) events**, mainly though intrinsic regulation at the time of cell division (95, 104-107), and **deterministic events**, mainly due to extrinsic factors in the HSC niche, that are either **permissive** or **instructive** in their action (108-110). Eliminating single or multiple hematopoietic growth factors or signal transduction pathways, by genetic engineering in mice, allows determination of the type of action a factor imposes on the HSC. The action of some factors is redundant as their removal does not result in hematopoietic phenotypes and can be compensated for (111-113) whereas others are indispensable for certain fates. The first case exemplifies permissive regulation, <u>allowing</u> cells to differentiate along a predestined differentiation pathway, and the latter instructive regulation, instructing cells toward a specific fate (114).

A group of extrinsic factors, called **cytokines**, play an important role in regulation of hematopoiesis. These molecules are available both in soluble and cell membrane bound forms and interact by direct binding to cell membrane receptors on the hematopoietic cells or intermediate cells with which the

hematopoietic cells interact. The early acting cytokines stem cell factor and thrombopoietin are non-redundant regulators of the HCS-pool (13). Other cytokines act on more committed cells and drive differentiation along particular pathways, like erythropoietin for erythroid cells, thrombopoietin for megakaryocytic cells, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) for myeloid cells and interleukin 7 (IL-7) for B cells (13, 115).

Signaling from membrane bound receptors on HSCs is propagated through elaborate intracellular signal transduction pathways to the nucleus, where they influence the activity of **transcription factors**. These bind to promoter elements on the DNA and regulate together with other regulatory molecules and DNA polymerases the transcription of target genes and ultimately, fate decisions. Several transcription factors have been implicated in the regulation of HSC self-renewal (ICN/CSL, Ikaros, HoxB4 and GATA-2), whereas others participate in commitment toward a myeloid (PU.1 and GATA-1) or a lymphoid (PU.1, Ikaros, GATA-3, ICN/CSL and E2A) fate (for review see reference 13).

THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES

Transplantation of HSCs has developed from an experimental therapy for a small group of patients to a well-established form of treatment for a large group of patients with hematological and non-hematological disorders. Cellular and genetic engineering of HSCs prior to transplantation would allow for additional potential applications of such transplantations.

LEUKEMIAS

Leukemias have long since been classified based on the morphological characteristics that are the consequence of chromosomal abnormalities (mutations) and their resultant malignant differentiation (116). The sub-classes are heterogeneous, comprising diverse types of abnormalities with different origins, properties and prognoses, but serve as a useful tool for efficient diagnosis and treatment. Treatment of patients with leukemia and lymphoma has developed significantly over the last few decades by improved classification (diagnosis), prognostic risk stratification, relief of symptoms and eradication of the malignant cells.

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is the most common type of adult leukemia and typically involves a differentiation block of myelopoiesis. The accumulation of undifferentiated myeloblasts in the bloodstream and vital organs results in symptoms such as anemia and abnormal bruising. AML can be preceded by the chronic myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), polycytemia vera (PCV) or chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and have in such cases a worse prognosis. The myeloid differentiation defect in AML is most likely not enough to develop the leukemia. Rather, other effects from the translocations are most likely decisive such as, increased self-renewal, reduced DNA-repair and reduced apoptosis. Treatment is usually chemotherapy, but for high-risk patients, allogeneic BM transplantation (see next section) is the best option.

Acute lymphoid leukemia (ALL) has a lymphoid phenotype and is the most common leukemia in children, for which the cure rate is high (except in infants). From studies of twins it is known that the leukemic translocation can occur during pregnancy (117) but as such aberrations can also be present in healthy individuals they are most likely not sufficient for transformation (118). Treatment depends on the type of translocation but it is usually chemotherapy.

Cell fate decisions in leukemic cells are abnormal due to mutations in genes (oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes) that are indispensable for normal regulation of cell proliferation and differentiation. Such mutations usually lead to gain of self-renewal ability, increased proliferation capacity, blocked differentiation, avoidance of apoptosis and higher susceptibility to secondary mutations (116). The leukemic initiating event occurs in a cell that becomes the ancestor of all other leukemic cells. Chromosomal abnormalities commonly found in patients with leukemia can also be found in healthy individuals and argues that some mutations are not transforming the cell but making it vulnerable to secondary leukemia-initiating mutations (119).

Some of the defining properties of stem cells are shared with leukemic cells, but as the regulation of these properties (self-renewal, apoptosis, drug resistance) in transformed cells is disrupted, they become malignant. Gain of self-renewal capacity is a requirement for infinite production of malignant cells and results in a **cancer stem cell** that is both required and sufficient for development and maintenance of the disease (118, 120-122). The identity of such cells in different leukemias have been investigated, and it has been established that the transformation event can occur both in HSCs and in committed progenitor cells (121-125). The lineage-restricted pattern of some leukemias suggests that the transformation either occurred in a progenitor cell with restricted lineage potential (120) or, in a HSC where the heterogeneity

depends on altered abilities to differentiate in the developing leukemia (120, 124, 126). The latter idea has been supported by recent studies suggesting that the initial transformation might occur at the stem cell level and that subsequent events affecting the malignant phenotype might occur in a committed progenitor that leads to the acute phase of the disease (127).

BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

In treatment of leukemia, chemotherapy is sometimes not enough to completely eradicate the malignant cells and in such cases replacement of the patients malignant cells by BM transplantation might be an option. Almost 50 years ago, it was demonstrated that such BM transplantation could rescue lethally irradiated mice from the myeloablation effects (128). Since then, the technique has been refined into a therapeutic treatment for leukemia and that work, by Dr. E Donall Thomas, was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1990 (129). Transfusion of BM cells to patients with hematological disorders can be done with cells from human leukocyte antigen (HLA) matched donors (usually siblings, but also unrelated). Such **allogeneic** transplantation provides favorable **graft-versus-leukemia** effects but can also result in deleterious **graft-versus-host** disease. In some cases donor cells are taken from the patient before myelosuppressive treatment and re-infused to rescue normal hematopoietic function. Such **autologous** transplantations avoid graft-versus-host reactions, but carry the risk of leukemic relapse from rare residual leukemic cells.

EX VIVO EXPANSION

In some transplantation settings the low HSC numbers in the donor cell source prevents successful engraftment. An example is the use of HSC from the umbilical cord blood for allogeneic transplantations. The low numbers of HSC in each umbilical cord currently limits their use to children patients, but as the fetal HSCs have less graft compatibility problems in allogeneic transplantations, extending their use to adults would be desired. *Ex vivo* manipulation of donor preparations to stimulate expansion of their HSC numbers would be a means to circumvent such problems, but so far has had limited success (96-102).

To expand limited numbers of HSCs in donor BM, umbilical cord blood or blood, most strategies have focused on single or multiple growth factor treatments. Cytokines that alone can not support HSC expansion, have been used in combination to maintain or expand HSCs numbers *ex vivo* (98, 99). Despite promising initial results in transgenic models, signaling pathways like the Notch (130), FGF (131), Wnt (71, 132) and HoxB4 (133-135) pathways have not yet been successfully used to establish an effective *ex vivo* expansion protocol.

In addition to being important for developing BM transplantation protocols, conditions that both maintain and expand the numbers of HSCs *ex vivo* will be crucial to developing gene therapy protocols. Such treatments may offer gene correction or protein expression rescue therapies of several BM failures, but require *ex vivo* culture and often self-renewing HSC divisions for genetic integration of the therapeutic gene.

STEM CELLS AND SOMATIC PLASTICITY

Totipotent stem cells with the ability to form all cell types are the result of fertilization. **Pluripotent stem cells** in the blastocyst stage embryo can grow into any of the approximately 200 cell types in the body. These can be isolated to generate embryonic stem cell lines (136) and have evoked much interest as they can potentially produce cells for therapeutic purposes. Due to their potency, differentiation needs to be tightly regulated to avoid uncontrolled growth that would otherwise result in teratomata (136). **Multipotent stem cells**, such as the HSCs, can only produce cells of a closely related family (e.g. blood cells). Their descendants, the **multipotent progenitor cells**, are further limited in their potential and produce only one or a few cell types. Multipotent stem cells are usually tissue-specific and have been described to varying degrees for the adult BM, nervous system, intestine, liver, pancreas, skeletal muscle, epidermis and the heart (for review see reference 137), but by far the most well characterized are the HSCs in the BM due to their accessibility and transplantability (138).

Regeneration through somatic plasticity is a common feature in invertebrates like amphibians, hydras and flatworms. In these, cells neighboring an injury de-differentiate into a pluripotent stem cell-like state, proliferate rapidly and differentiate again to regenerate the damaged or lost tissues, such as organs or limbs (139). Some species like planarians have instead clusters of pluripotent cells within their body, which migrate to the injured site. The mechanisms for how polarity, positional identity and the scale and proportion of the regenerating tissues are regulated are yet unresolved. Tissue regeneration is far more limited in most vertebrates, but for example the human liver retains some degree of regenerative ability throughout life.

TRANSDIFFERENTIATION

The hierarchical view of mammalian stem cell commitment, with irreversible loss of lineage potential during development, was recently challenged by several studies (for review see references 137, 140, 141). Multipotent tissue specific-stem cells were suggested to migrate to damaged organs to regenerate tissues by conversion of phenotypic as well as functional characteristics to cells in that particular organ. Such **transdifferentiation** into cell types normally not produced from a certain cell would depend on extrinsic regulation, from the new local environment, that direct differentiation in a fashion similar to regeneration in invertebrates (142, 143). At one point the whole concept of stem cells was questioned, as it was suggested that rather than referring to a distinct cellular entity, a stem cell most accurately should be referred to as a biological function, inducible in various cell types (141).

For many reasons, most studies investigated the transdifferentiation potential of HSCs. Typically, HSC- or BM-derived contribution to regeneration was evaluated in genetically conditioned or physically lesioned recipients. Cells from sex mismatched or transgenic (GFP or lacZ) donors were transplanted either directly into the tissues or via intra venous injection following lethal irradiation to reconstitute the whole hematopoietic system. In such experiments, BM cells were claimed to contribute to liver (144, 145), heart (146-148), skeletal muscle (149-151), central nervous system (152-154), pancreas (155, 156), epithelium (157) and vascular endothelium (158, 159), but most often at very low frequencies (typically <1% of all cells). Other studies also suggested a rare hematopoietic potential from non-hematopoietic donor cells (160, 161).

From a therapeutic perspective, the expectation was that any stem cell might turn into any tissue given the appropriate conditions. Such an optimistic idea drove clinical studies prematurely (162) before the mechanisms behind the reported functional improvements after transplantation of BM cells were understood (163-165). In addition such transplantation has potentially



Figure 8. Hematopoietic fate plasticity through transdifferentiation vs. cell fusion. Cells derived through fusion with hematopoietic cells are in black (GFP).

unfavorable outcomes, as both **heterotypic cell fusion** (see next section) (166) and aberrant differentiation (167, 168) has been observed and might result in acute organ failures.

The initial hype of stem cell plasticity was dampened by several reviews and follow up studies in which higher criteria for evidence of transdifferentiation (137, 169) and lack of reproducibility (170-177) questioned the reliability of the earlier published studies (Figure 8). In some cases the primary reports were even shown to be incorrect with regard to their technical performance or the interpretation of data (170-173, 178-183) and yet other studies provided mechanisms, such as heterotypic cell fusion, as reliable explanations for the observed phenomena (173, 184-190). Given the rarity with which these events have been detected *in vivo*, very stringent criteria should be required for the demonstration of genuine transdifferentiation. Thus, the

reliability and robustness of the phenomena must be firmly established before discarding basic concepts of developmental biology. Donor cell populations should be prospectively isolated and transplanted without intervening culture manipulations that may affect their gene expression profile and chromatin configuration. Clonal analysis should be used to exclude the possibility of bipotent differentiation due to heterogeneous donor cell populations. Transplanted cells, with donor-specific markers, should give rise to robust and sustained engraftment in the target tissues, and the frequency of conversion should to be accurately quantified. Transition of one specific cell lineage into another needs to be addressed by proper integration of the engrafting cells in the target tissue and conversion to a tissue specific phenotype different from the origin. To rule out artificial conversions of phenotype, the reprogramming of the cell needs to be confirmed on gene expression level in silencing of gene products characteristic of the original tissue and activation of genes specific to the new cell fate. Functional effects of any conversions have to be established, preferably on both cellular and whole organ level. Finally, following the recent discovery of heterotypic cell fusions in experimental conditions, such mechanism has to be ruled out as a possible explanation for the apparent conversion.

Currently, according to these stringent criteria, no study has convincingly documented a true transdifferentiation event (137) but despite this the debate continues as to the plasticity of differentiation from multipotent stem cells (191-196).

HETEROTYPIC CELL FUSION

Cell fusion is the process in which cells merge by joining their plasma membranes forming a **hybrid cell** with two nuclei (197). Perhaps the bestknown hybrids are hybridomas, which are made by fusing myeloma cells with lymphocytes to produce monoclonal antibodies. Cell fusion in live organisms is a complex process, including cell recognition, adhesion and membrane merging and seems to have similar but unresolved mechanisms in disparate cell types (197, 198). Proteins or molecules involved in the merging of cell membranes are called **fusogens**. Given their widespread expression but the relative infrequency of fusion events in higher organisms, unidentified inhibitors might control the process or specific conditions such as cellular degeneration or regeneration might be needed (197, 198).

The importance of cell fusion during development and disease is emphasized by its involvement in a wide range of biological processes, including fertilization through fusion of the egg and sperm cells (199), the development of **syncytium** in muscle (200), bones (201) and placenta (202) as well as in the immune response (203) and during tumorigenesis (166).

Cells formed by heterotypic fusion of unrelated cell types (i.e. heterotypic cells) are called heterokaryons. Whereas syncytia arise spontaneously in normal tissues, heterokaryons have only been found during experimental conditions in vitro (187, 188) but recently also during tissue regeneration in vivo (184-186). The progeny of HSCs have been shown to fuse with a wide variety of target cells, including cardiomyocytes (173, 186), Purkinje neurons (186, 204, 205), hepatocytes (184-186) and muscle fibers (206, 207), resulting in a genetic and phenotypic conversion of the hematopoietic cell. Such fusion events can involve functional conversions on both the cellular and organ levels (145, 184, 185), but might not always result in changes of protein expression patterns (208). Whereas normal formation of hybrid cells usually results in divisionally inactive cells, the proliferative capacity of heterokaryons might be different (145, 209). Little is known about the mechanisms of heterotypic cell fusion, whether it is a regulated process or a random event. The fusogenic BM-derived cells has a HSCs origin (206, 207), but their identity as fusion partners are still largely unknown. However, cells of the myeloid lineage or even macrophages have been involved in heterokaryon formation in both liver (190) and skeletal muscle (189, 210).

ASSAYS TO STUDY HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

When studying HSCs two main properties have to be evaluated, multipotent and self-renewing ability. The LT-HSC is the only hematopoietic cell that has both these properties, and therefore any cell population, or preferably cell clone, must provide long-term production of all mature blood cell types as well as new HSCs to be identified as a HSC.

PURIFICATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

The HSCs constitute a rare population of cells within the BM with an estimated frequency of less than one in 15,000 cells (44). To evaluate multiple properties of any BM cell population, the potential HSC needs to be enriched at least 1,000 fold and in some cases preferentially to a single cell (clonal) level. Unfortunately, the HSCs have no distinct size or molecular marker that can be used to purify them to this level (211, 212). With the development of monoclonal antibodies and fluorescent activated cell sorting (FACS) several markers have been established that can be used in combination to enrich for LT-HSCs within the hematopoietic organs (Figure 9). Mouse HSCs lack expression of cell membrane protein markers that are normally expressed by mature blood cells (e.g. B220, CD4, CD5, CD8, Mac-1, Gr-1 and Ter119). Among these lineage marker (lin) negative cells, a fraction of cells expressing both the receptor for stem cell factor (c-kit) and the stem cell antigen (Sca-1), contain all HSC activity in the BM (213). This population can be further subdivided into populations with distinct functional properties based on the expression of the adhesion molecule CD34 (46) and the Flt3 ligand C-fms like tyrosine kinase 3 (Flt3) receptor (43, 76, 77). The LT-HSCs express neither of these proteins (46, 77) but up-regulate expression of CD34 as they lose long-term self-renewing ability. The CD34 expressing cells (ST-HSC) have limited self-renewing ability

but are still multipotent (43) and produce LMPPs that start to express the Flt3 receptor (43, 76). The phenotypes of these cell populations change upon activation, during ontogeny and during aging (212, 214-216) and therefore purification based on functional properties or unique HSC markers would be favorable.

Staining of BM cells with the dyes **Hoechst 33342** and **Rhodamin 123** (217) results in heterogeneous labeling (43, 45) due to the differential exclusion of the dyes by multi-drug resistance membrane transporters which are highly active in HSCs (218). Despite a direct correlation between Hoechst 33342 efflux capacity and HSC identity in adults (219, 220) purification of BM cells based on the activity of these transporters can only enrich for HSCs and needs to be combined with phenotypic markers to reach high purities (43) or to compare HSCs identities based on developmental and activation status (220).

Recent findings suggests that **SLAM proteins** could be useful as markers to distinguish between HSCs, progenitor cells and mature cells, and that SLAM



Figure 9. Strategy to purify hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells through FACS. Numbers indicate the frequency of each boxed population of total BM cells.

proteins expressed uniquely on these cell types can be used as single markers for purification (221). If these findings stand, they will revolutionize experimental HSC research in mice by allowing simple FACS identification and purification as well as detection of HSCs *in situ* within the BM.

EVALUATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

When evaluating HSCs, detection of their unique self-renewing and multipotent capacity is crucial. The later can be done *in vitro* by assaying differentiation capacity in various **exogenous growth conditions** such as media, serum and growth factors. Favorable are co-cultures with **immortalized stromal cell lines** that influence the stem cells by cell-to-cell contact and growth factor release (e.g. OP9/OP9 Δ) (222). Since the readout of such cultures is the production of mature cells, they can at most give qualitative information of potential, as both stem and progenitor cells read out.

Since *in vitro* culture systems are limited to establishing lineage potential, *in vivo* models that also support and address self-renewal are favorable. BM populations with varying degrees of HSC enrichment can be evaluated by **transplantation** into myeloablated host animals by either intra venous or direct intra femoral injection. Qualitative and quantitative evaluation of engraftment from donor cells is determined by using congenic mouse strains (Figure 10). These differ only in the expression of the CD45.1 and CD45.2 isoforms (223, 224) and therefore allow transplantation without graft rejection but identification of donor and recipient cells. Qualitative engraftment can be evaluated by FACS analysis of antibody stained peripheral blood or BM cells to detect the number of donor cells (e.g. CD45.2⁺) and their contribution toward the different blood cell lineages (myeloid; Mac-1⁺, B cell; B220⁺, T cell; CD4⁺/CD8⁺) relative to the recipient cells (e.g. CD45.1⁺). Quantitative evaluation of the number of HSCs in cell populations can be assayed through co-transplantation with a reference population with a known number of HSCs that competes with the test cells for host reconstitution. Such competitor cells can also provide a supportive function and short-term protection of the myeloablated host when test cells with low HSCs numbers are transplanted. The critical self-renewing capacity of donor cells can be assayed through serial transplantation of BM from primary recipients into secondary myeloablated recipients as HSCs in the test population need to undergo self-renewing cell divisions to reconstitute the BM of the secondary recipient.

With the discovery of the specific HSC-supporting BM microenvironment, the HSC niche, much interest has been focused on investigating the action of HSCs *in situ*. To date, however, no BM explant cultures have been established that allow evaluation of the interactions of HSCs with their microenvironment over time, and researchers are therefore limited to investigating histological



Figure 10. *In vivo* functional evaluation of transplanted CD45.2 donor and CD45.1 competitor populations by FACS analysis of blood reconstitution. Lineage distribution of reconstituting donor cells is evaluated by staining for markers specific for myeloid (Mac-1), B (B220) and T (CD4/CD8) cells.

specimens by immunohistochemistry. Such analysis is restricted by the limitation of phenotypical HSC markers and the low frequency of HSCs in the BM (211, 221). Models to evaluate HSCs *in situ* in living animals are developing, and will play an important role in investigating HSC migration and regulation (225-229).

FOCUS OF THE PRESENT STUDIES

The focus of this thesis is on two unique defining properties of HSCs, namely their multilineage potential and relative quiescence. Recent studies have suggested (96, 141) that HSCs, taken out of their quiescent state in the BM, may act differently and acquire new fates or lose properties that normally define them as stem cells.

First, early in vertebrate embryonic development partitioning into the three embryonic germ layers, ectoderm (skin and neural lineages), mesoderm (blood, bone, muscle, cartilage, and fat), and endoderm (respiratory and digestive tracts), takes place. This results in irreversible specification of all subsequently arising cells throughout adulthood. However, recent experiments have challenged this idea and suggest that stem cells under certain circumstances transdifferentiate into a much wider spectrum of progeny than previously anticipated. This theory of stem cell plasticity overturned our fundamental concepts of developmental biology and proposes that, given the right conditions, HSCs are able to respond to a variety of micro-environmental regenerative cues to become pluripotent.

Second, the quiescence of HSCs is one of their defining properties. It is thought to be important to avoid exhaustion of the stem cell compartment throughout life and to maintain genetic integrity over time. In several studies, the quiescent state of HSCs has been coupled with their stem cell function, suggesting that HSCs lose stem cell properties such as multilineage potential, self-renewing ability, and the ability to home to the BM stem cell niche as they enter the cell cycle.

The overall aim of this thesis has been to evaluate both stem cell plasticity (**Paper I** and **II**) and cell cycle related changes of HSC properties (**Paper III**) and establish both their significance and validity.

CARDIOMYOCYTE POTENTIAL AND HETEROTYPIC FUSION OF HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS (PAPER I AND II)

Transplantation of BM cells or enriched HSCs into adult recipients have been claimed to result in not only hematopoietic reconstitution but also the regeneration of a variety of non-hematopoietic lineages in multiple organs through transdifferentiation (for review see reference 137). The recently reported ability of BM cells to regenerate cardiomyocytes upon transplantation into infarcted myocardium were unprecedented, with regard to both the levels of potential transdifferentiation observed (147) and improved cardiac function (148). Based on these studies, but without further evaluation of the function or duration of potentially BM-derived cardiomyocytes, a number of clinical trials have been initiated world-wide, in which patients that suffered from acute myocardial infarction have been transplanted with autologous BM cells (163-165).

Follow up studies of BM derived transdifferentiation have questioned its significance and even existence, and have provided alternative mechanisms for the reported findings. It has been shown that BM-derived contribution to non-hematopoietic cell lineages do occur but through cell fusion rather than transdifferentiation, and moreover that such heterotypic fusion might occur spontaneously (186, 190, 205-207). However, as none of these findings were from steady-state physiological conditions, it remained to be established whether heterotypic fusion is a normal blood cell property or only a result of organ failure or tissue injury. Considering the low frequency of these events (<1%) it is unlikely that heterotypic fusion can significantly improve organ function unless the resulting heterokaryon have a selective advantage. The functional consequences of heterotypic fusion need to be investigated in more detail, particularly in light of the known association of cell fusion in transformation and metastasis in cancer (166).

AIMS

We aimed to evaluate the ability of BM cells to regenerate the infarcted myocardium through transdifferentiation. Specifically, we applied different murine acute cardiac injury and BM transplantation models to establish in detail the extent and durability of any BM-derived engraftment, the identity of engrafting donor cells, and the cellular mechanisms responsible for the reported developmental plasticity. Furthermore, we wanted to establish if heterotypic fusion of BM cells and cardiomyocytes, Purkinje neurons, hepatocytes or skeletal muscle fibers occurred spontaneously during development or was a result of experimental conditions. We also sought to identify the origin of the BM-derived fusion partners and the mechanisms behind this phenomenon.

SUMMARY

Our study confirmed that BM-derived hematopoietic cells engraft following direct transplantation into the myocardial infarcted heart (**Paper I**). Such engraftment was highly selective for the damaged myocardium but transient and virtually lost four weeks after transplantation. Engrafting donor cells had phenotypical and morphological characteristics of myeloid cells, demonstrating that hematopoietic cells rather than cardiomyocytes accounted for the transient engraftment previously reported (147).

We also investigated the cardiomyocyte potential of BM cells following cytokine-induced mobilization of BM cells to the blood and infarcted myocardium (**Paper I**). This strategy resulted in higher and more sustained levels of BM-derived engraftment in the infarcted myocardium compared to direct injection. Engrafting cells had the same phenotypical and morphological characteristics of myeloid cells consistent with earlier findings of invasion by inflammatory cells during scar formation in mice (230). However, the involvement of HSCs in the normal repair process is brought into question, as

we did not observe any hematopoietic stem or progenitor cell mobilization to the blood in response to acute myocardial infarction.

In contrast to the infarcted myocardium, we consistently observed a very low number of BM-derived cells in the viable myocardium with a phenotype and morphology supporting a cardiomyocyte identity. By using different donor (GFP) and recipient (lacZ) transgenic marker genes (231, 232) we conclusively demonstrated that these rare cells were derived through heterotypic fusion with host cardiomyocytes and donor hematopoietic cells (**Paper I**). Such events were never observed in mice in which BM cells were transplanted directly into the infarcted myocardium. The requirement for non-direct BM transplantation in the fusion process might be explained by a higher and sustained delivery of hematopoietic cells to the infarcted heart from reconstituted BM, or by the lethal irradiation conditioning prior to transplantation.

Taken together, these studies suggested that BM derived cells contribute to non-hematopoietic cell lineages through heterotypic cell fusion rather than transdifferentiation. Others have suggested that such fusion might occur continuously in steady state adult tissues with various cell types (186, 190, 205-207). However, as none of the models previously used have reflected steady state physiological conditions, it remained to be established if heterotypic fusion is a normal blood cell property. We addressed this by transplanting BM cells into adult c-kit receptor deficient (c-kit^{W41/W41}) mice which, due to an intrinsic HSC deficiency, allow significant lympho-myeloid reconstitution (233) from wild type HSCs in the absence of myeloablation (Paper II). Despite stable multilineage hematopoietic reconstitution from donor derived cells, these failed to provide any contribution toward cardiomyocytes, Purkinje neurons, hepatocytes or skeletal muscle fibers. In contrast, when tissue injury (myocardial infarction, striatal toxin treatment, skeletal muscle toxin- or cryo-induced damage or whole body lethal irradiation) was inflicted, BM-derived heterotypic fusion with these cell types was readily detected in all mice.

The BM-derived fusion partners have been reported to have a HSC origin (173, 190, 206, 207) and are at least in some cases of the myelomonocytic lineage (189, 190, 206, 210), but the exact identity of the hematopoietic cells with fusogenic abilities has not been established. We evaluated myeloablated mice with myeloid-restricted reconstitution and detected donor contribution to cardiomyocytes, hepatocytes and skeletal muscle fibers. The lack of contribution to Purkinje neurons suggested that BM-derived fusion partners to Purkinje neurons might have a non-myeloid origin. To investigate this, myeloablated mice with lymphoid-restricted reconstitution were evaluated and in these, donor contribution to all four cell types (including Purkinje neurons) was observed (**Paper II**).

Although our studies in adult mice supported the fusion of lymphocytes with non-hematopoietic cells upon insult, they do not prove a role for heterotypic cell fusion during steady-state conditions. As homotypic cell fusion plays a role in normal organ development, we investigated whether heterotypic fusion with lymphocytes might contribute toward development of nonhematopoietic lineages during embryonic development (Paper II). In utero transplantation of severe combined immuno-deficiency (SCID) recipients (234) allow lymphoid reconstitution without myeloablation. In these, both donorderived hepatocytes and Purkinje neurons, with characteristic morphology and lineage marker expression, but no donor-derived cardiomyocytes or skeletal muscle fibers were detected. These lymphocyte-derived hepatocytes and Purkinje neurons were not derived from transiently circulating infused donor BM cells (including myeloid cells), but rather the lymphoid progeny of reconstituting HSCs. Lower or undetectable levels of lymphocyte-derived hepatocytes and Purkinje neurons in transplanted steady state neonatal and adult SCID recipients demonstrated that this unique ability of lymphocytes is restricted to a narrow window during fetal development.

CONCLUSIONS

Our studies were in agreement with two other reports, published at the same time, of the inability of transplanted hematopoietic cells to transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes following myocardial infarction (171, 172) and established that BM donor cell engraftment was entirely of hematopoietic and transitory nature, and that no BM-derived cardiomyocytes could be observed in the damaged myocardium (Paper I). This suggests that the observed enhanced survival and improved cardiac function following BM mobilization of infarcted mice (148) is likely to be mediated through a mechanism distinct from transdifferentiation of BM cells to cardiomyocytes. In contrast, cardiomyocytes fused with BMderived cells could be observed outside of the infarction area, but were too rare to be of any functional relevance. Our findings challenge the experimental basis for the ongoing extensive clinical BM transplantation trials of myocardial infarction patients (163-165), as these trials were largely initiated on the assumption that BM-derived cells could generate high levels of cardiomyocytes through transdifferentiation (146-148). In addition, the identity and fate of transplanted BM cells has to be established as we and others have found adverse outcomes (167, 168) as a consequence of engrafting donor cells. Finally, if BM cells can contribute to any indirect functional improvement, such as promoting angiogenesis or preventing cardiac remodeling following myocardial infarction (235-237), the mechanisms for such effects have to be identified before translating into treatments of patients.

By studies of uninjured mice, we established that detectable *in vivo* heterotypic fusion of BM-derived cells with cardiomyocytes, Purkinje neurons, hepatocytes and skeletal muscle fibers does not occur in steady state adult tissues, but is stimulated by lethal irradiation or organ specific injuries (**Paper II**). These findings question previous studies implicating that BM-derived fusion might occur normally in healthy individuals (186, 190, 206, 207). Since replacement of the blood system of recipient mice in these studies was

invariably achieved following lethal whole body irradiation (173, 184-186, 189, 190, 205-207, 210, 238), we argue that the observed cell fusion events might have been a consequence of irradiation-induced effects. We also demonstrate a previously unrecognized role of lymphocytes as partners for heterotypic fusion and provide compelling evidence for lymphocyte contribution to hepatocytes and Purkinje neurons during embryonic development. These data demonstrate for the first time that the hematopoietic system might contribute toward nonhematopoietic cell lineages during normal organogenesis. Using advanced crelox lineage-tracing experiments we are currently further characterizing such spontaneous heterotypic fusion during normal development. Our preliminary data support both that such processes occur at a significant level and are truly a result of heterotypic cell fusion. However, the efficiency by which blood derived cell fusion occur in our and other studies is very low, and a therapeutic exploration of this phenomena will require insight into mechanisms that can enhance the fusion efficiency, or that fusion occurs with a target cell with considerable proliferative potential and a competitive advantage over other cells of that lineage (145, 184, 185).

HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL CYCLE (PAPER III)

HSCs in steady state BM cycle rarely and are mainly in the G_0 phase of the cell cycle (47, 48). It was previously believed that only a rare number of mouse LT-HSCs contribute actively to hematopoiesis in steady state adult BM (239), but more recent studies have showed that virtually all adult LT-HSCs cycle within a period of 4-8 weeks (47, 48). Mechanisms must be in place to dramatically enhance the speed of proliferation of LT-HSCs on demand, such as following infections, hemorrhage, BM transplantation or during fetal development when HSCs expand extensively (61, 240). Studies of highly purified BM HSCs *in*

vitro have clearly demonstrated that LT-HSCs need considerably longer time to complete their first cell division compared to more committed progenitors. This might be explained by their unresponsive G_0 quiescent state that requires entry into G_1 and longer time for preparation of the cell cycle machinery. Subsequent divisions of HSCs are much shorter, as they no longer need to first prepare for G_1 entry, and have been assumed to have a transit time comparable to progenitors (54, 63, 65, 241). However, previous *in vitro* studies have been complicated by the fact that while current *ex vivo* expansion conditions dramatically expand cell numbers, they only maintain or at best slightly expand LT-HSCs over time (98, 99, 101, 102, 242-245), resulting in cultures wherein the vast majority of cells are committed progenitors rather than LT-HSCs.

The current view that HSCs in $S/G_2/M$ phases of the cell cycle are compromised in their ability to short- and long-term reconstitute recipient mice upon transplantation (63-66, 96) has partially been based on the assumption that actively proliferating LT-HSCs have a cell cycle transit time identical to that of committed progeny and that HSCs are identifiable by their phenotype alone. Therefore, the inability to uniquely identify LT-HSCs prospectively (211) complicates and limits the interpretations of these studies.

AIMS

To directly establish the cell cycle kinetics of actively proliferating LT-HSCs by using *ex vivo* expansion (99) and the extensive expansion of HSCs during normal fetal development (240) as model systems.

SUMMARY

Our studies of adult HSCs, fractionated into non-dividing (G_1) and dividing ($S/G_2/M$) cells and expanded *ex vivo*, suggested that HSCs in the $S/G_2/M$ phases do not gain repopulating activity as they re-enter G_1 in culture (**Paper III**). Likewise, HSCs in G_1 do not lose significant HSC potential when they divide in

cultures. These data are most compatible with the original $S/G_2/M$ cells being mainly composed of actively dividing short-term stem or progenitor cells whereas LT-HSCs, due to a prolonged G_1 cell cycle transit, are mainly present in the G_1 fraction. To obtain further support for this we used methods for viable cell division tracking and obtained direct evidence that the cell cycle transit time of *ex vivo* self-renewing LT-HSCs is prolonged compared to their committed progeny, during not only the first but also subsequent cell divisions. In addition, also ST-HSCs have a prolonged cell cycle transit relative to that of committed progenitors, although shorter than that of LT-HSCs.

We also investigated the cell cycle kinetics of HSCs under physiological conditions *in vivo* by studying the fetal liver at a stage of development when HSCs expand extensively. These studies confirmed and extended the conclusions reached through the *ex vivo* expansion models. Although all hematopoietic progenitor cells and HSCs in 14.5 dpc liver had proliferated within 48 hours, they displayed dramatically different cell cycle profiles and kinetics of BrdU incorporation. Actively proliferating fetal HSCs passed through a stage of relative quiescence and prolonged G_1 , resulting in a doubling of the cell cycle transit time when compared to hematopoietic progenitor cells.

CONCLUSIONS

We have demonstrated that the enrichment of LT-HSC activity in the G_0/G_1 phase of the cell cycle, even when actively proliferating *in vitro* and during fetal development, does not necessarily reflect cell cycle specific effects on HSC function, but are at least in part rather an effect of a protracted G_0/G_1 transit (**Paper III**). We propose that this is a unique and defining property of HSCs, regardless of the stage of development and pathways promoting HSC expansion. The conclusions from our studies could only be reached by identifying and evaluating LT-HSCs through their function, as there is no reliable phenotype of LT-HSCs following *in vitro* and *in vivo* expansion (212, 214). Thus, previous

studies implicating cell cycle specific effects on LT-HSC engraftment (63-66) as well as gene expression (246), should be re-evaluated in light of the fact that functionally defined LT-HSCs, due to a prolonged cell cycle transit, always are enriched in G_1 relative to S/G₂/M. Although our studies do not exclude cell cycle specific effects on stem cell function, they do establish that the enrichment of proliferating HSCs in G_1 , at least in part, is due to their extensively protracted transit through this phase of the cell cycle.

We propose that this distinct regulation of the cell cycle in HSCs could be a requirement for their self-renewal (57) and limit their proliferative capacity to avoid exhaustion of the LT-HSC compartment (74, 75). Thus, it will be of considerable interest and importance to identify the unique regulatory mechanisms of HSC cell cycle transit during development as well as in steady state adult hematopoiesis.

SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Konstant produktion av blodceller i benmärgen krävs för att bibehålla normal syretransport i blodet, sårläkning och ett effektivt immunförsvar. Bakom denna produktion ligger hematopoetiska blodstamceller som regleras av en komplex interaktion mellan dem och deras omgivning. Varje blodstamcell kan med självförnyande celldelningar, där minst en dottercell bibehåller en stamcellsidentitet, producera alla typer av blodceller och bidra till blodbildning genom hela livet. De är företrädelsevis lågaktiva i benmärgen, men har i flera avseenden tillskrivits unika egenskaper i situationer då de sätts ur sitt normala tillstånd. Det är några av dessa situationer denna avhandling berör.

De senaste åren har blodstamceller i flera studier ansetts bidra till andra celltyper än blodceller. Benmärgsceller, anrikade för blodstamceller, har transplanterats till olika modeller av organskada i möss med förhoppning om att regenerativ miljö i skadad vävnad ska stimulera dem att bidra till bildning av andra celler än blodceller. De initiala fynden från sådana experiment har skapat stora förväntningar på användning av blodstamceller för cellterapi på patienter med olika degenerativa sjukdomstillstånd. Från våra studier av möss med experimentellt inducerad hjärtinfarkt kan vi konstatera att blodstamceller saknar potential att bilda hjärtmuskelceller och att den enda mekanism med vilken blodceller bidrar till hjärtmuskel är genom fusion med överlevande hjärtmuskelceller. Dessa fynd kullkastar underlaget för pågående kliniska studier samt storskalig etablering av benmärgsinjektion i hjärtat som behandlingsmetod för patienter med hjärtinfarkt. Hur hybrider av två olika ursprungsceller bildas eller vilken biologisk relevans de har återstår att visa. Eftersom bildning av dessa sker med låg frekvens och endast efter kraftig skada i den studerade vävnaden, talar mycket för att fusion mellan blodceller och andra celler inte är ett normalt fenomen med biologisk betydelse i vuxna individer. Å andra sidan visar vi att blodstamceller transplanterade till möss tidigt under fosterutvecklingen kan bidra till bildning av hepatocyter i levern och Purkinjeceller i lillhjärnan. Uppenbarligen kan blodstamceller under en kort period av fosterutvecklingen inverka på normal utveckling av dessa organ. Dessa primära fynd måste nogrannt reproduceras och karaktäriseras och mekanismerna bakom cellfusion måste identifieras innan vi vet om de är ett resultat av en naturlig biologisk process som går att manipulera och utnyttja för terapeutiska syften.

Vanligtvis är stamceller inaktiva, vilket innebär att de är mindre mottagliga för stimulans av tillväxtfaktorer och inte delar sig för att bilda nya stamceller eller blodceller. Under vissa betingelser, som vid infektioner eller blödningar då kraftig ökning av antalet blodceller krävs, kan de dock exponentiellt öka bildningen av blodceller. Att bibehålla en inaktiv status är förmodligen en nödvändig egenskap för att bibehålla livslång blodcellsproduktion och det har därför antagits att aktiv celldelning av blodstamceller leder till reducerad stamcellsförmåga. Detta antagande baseras på experimentella observationer som antyder att stamceller som delar sig har sämre stamcellsegenskaper än de som är inaktiva. Vi har studerat detta och kan visa att celldelning inte leder till förlust av stamcellsförmåga samt att den observerade skillnaden mellan anrikade blodstamceller i inaktivt och aktivt tillstånd beror på en för dem unik reglering av celldelningscykeln. Detta resulterar i en långsammare delningscykel och därmed en huvudsaklig distribution av blodstamceller bland icke delande celler. Dessa fynd är av stor vikt för att förstå och vidare undersöka några av de definierande egenskaperna hos blodstamceller, nämligen att självförnya sig och bibehålla blodbildning genom livet.

PAPERS AND MANUSCRIPTS NOT IN THE THESIS

Human CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells capable of multilineage engrafting NOD/SCID mice express Flt3: distinct Flt3 and c-kit expression and response patterns on mouse and candidate human hematopoietic stem cells. Sitnicka E, Buza-Vidas N, Larsson S, Nygren JM, Liuba K, Jacobsen SE. *Blood.* 2003 1;102(3):881-6.

Identification of Lin⁻Sca1⁺c-kit⁺CD34⁺Flt3⁻ short-term hematopoietic stem cells capable of rapidly reconstituting and rescuing myeloablated transplant recipients. Yang L, Bryder D, Adolfsson J, <u>Nygren J</u>, Mansson R, Sigvardsson M, Jacobsen SE. *Blood*. 2005 1;105(7):2717-23.

Injection of bone marrow-derived cells into injured myocardium carries risk of ossification. Breitbach M, Hashemi T, Roell W, Xia Y, Dewald O, <u>Nygren JM</u>, Fries JWU, Tiemann K, Bohlen H, Jacobsen SEW, Hescheler J, Welz A, Bloch W, Fleischmann BK. *Submitted*

Critical role of the cytokine tyrosine kinase receptor Flt3 in fetal and adult T lymphopoiesis. Sitnicka E, Buza-Vidas N, Ahlenius H, Cilio CM, Gekas C, <u>Nygren JM</u>, Svensson M, Agace WW and Jacobsen SEW. *Submitted*

Failure of transplanted bone marrow cells to adapt a pancreatic β -cell fate. Taneera J, Rosengren A, Renstrom E, <u>Nygren JM</u>, Serup P, Rorsman P and Jacobsen SEW. *Submitted*

Lack of functional improvement following transplantation of bone marrow cells to the infarcted myocardium. Roell W, Breitbach M, <u>Nygren JM</u>, Jacobsen SEW, Fleischmann BK. *Manuscript in preparation*

The cytokine signaling inhibitor Lnk is a potent physiological negative regulator of hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal. Buza-Vidas N, <u>Nygren JM</u>, Jensen CT, Qian H, and Jacobsen SEW. *Manuscript in preparation*

Critical role of c-kit in maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. Thorén LAM, Liuba K, Nygren JM, Jensen CT, Antonchuk J, Jacobsen SEW. *Manuscript in preparation*

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I would like to take the opportunity to express my gratitude toward all former and present members of the Hematopoietic Stem Cell Laboratory, for contributing to a scientific environment free from internal competition but filled with eager to solve problems and discuss experiments and data. I would like to specifically acknowledge the following persons:

My supervisor **Sten Eirik**, for your enthusiasm, endurance and scientific skills, but most importantly for always having (or making) time to discuss opportunities as well as problems. Your support during my six months leave with Max is highly appreciated as that experience affected me a lot both as a person and as a scientist. I would also like to thank you for teaching me how to calculate the mean value out of two measurements, how to get stung on the black market in New York and for allowing me to explore how far one can go abusing champagne.

My co-supervisor **Stefan**, for your knowledge and experience in the heart field and enthusiasm over the projects we have done together. I would also like to thank you for our growing friendship and the one-in-a-million-experience in Madison Square Garden (thanks to those expensive tickets Sten Eirik bought).

Karina, for your personality and kindness and for our invaluable collaboration with the fusion projects. **Petter**, for the many replicates but great data. **David**, for the endless scientific discussions that often have stimulated me to think beyond the next experiment. **Jalal**, for your efforts when we established all the histology methods for the transdifferentiation studies. **Lars**, for the gossips and interesting scientific conversations and for your habit to always end our

discussions by concluding, and pointing out, that I'm younger than you and will understand better as I grow old (as you). **Jörgen** and **Yutaka**, for discussions and help when I was new in the lab. **Micke**, for knowing right and wrong. **Ewa**, for friendly guidance and advice. **Carole** and **Lina**, for your common sense and sense of humor.

Eva C, for your assistance with experiments and for spreading joy around you. Anna and Zhi, for cell purifications and long discussions in the light of the drop delay screen. Gunilla, for all the help and for coping with me in our office. Ingbritt, for being the backbone of the lab. Jessica for all your help. Kicki, Märta and Eva J, for your professionalism and for creating a positive atmosphere by the entrance.

Lilian, to you I'm greatly in debt. Without your skill and structure in help with experiments, breeding and transfers of mice, my time in the lab would have been completely different. Your habit to say "No problems", no matter what you are asked for, makes you invaluable as a colleague.

The studies of stem cell developmental plasticity in heart, brain, liver and muscle would not have been possible without a fruitful collaboration with the labs of Stefan Jovinge, Bernd Fleischmann, Claus Nerlov and Anders Björklund. Special thanks to Martin Breitbach, Wilhelm Röll and Simon Stott for their efforts.

Former and present members of the Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy for joint discussions and collaborations.

Carole, **David**, **Jennifer**, **Lars**, **Martin** and **Micke** for help and advice while writing the thesis.

To all friends that I have shared many memorable moments with during my eight years in Lund.

My parents, **Ingrid** and **John** for your endless support. I'm touched by your love and hope I will be as good a parent as you have been to me. My sisters, **Lina**, **Anna** and **Jenny** and your families for our true friendship and trust. It's a gift to have such friends within the family.

Josefine my best friend and the love of my life. To have someone like you to love and care about means everything and you have given me so much during our time together. The last few years have sometimes been tough, but we did it together and our way. I look with comfort and anticipation into our future and all the dreams we are going to fulfill. **Max** my precious son. I'm so proud of being your father, seeing you grow into a bright, tender and humorous person. You bring me more joy each day than I can possibly ask for.



The studies were made possible by the support from: The Swedish Heart Lung Foundation, the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation, the Swedish Diabetes Foundation, the Swedish Research Council, the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the scientific exchange program North Rhine Westphalia-Sweden, ALF (Governmental Public Health Grant), Alfred Österlund Foundation, Funds of Lunds Sjukvårdsdistrikt, the Swedish Research Council, the Swedish Cancer Society, the Swedish Society of Pediatric Cancer and the Tobias Foundation. The Lund Stem Cell Center is supported by a Swedish Center of Excellence grant in life sciences from the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research.

REFERENCES

- 1. Morrison, S.J., N. Uchida, and I.L. Weissman. 1995. The biology of hematopoietic stem cells. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*. 11:35-71.
- 2. Zon, L.I. 1995. Developmental biology of hematopoiesis. Blood. 86:2876-2891.
- Laird, D.J., A.W. De Tomaso, M.D. Cooper, et al. 2000. 50 million years of chordate evolution: seeking the origins of adaptive immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 97:6924-6926.
- 4. Janeway, C.A. 1999. Immunobiology: the immune system in health and disease.
- 5. Akashi, K., D. Traver, T. Miyamoto, et al. 2000. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. *Nature*. 404:193-197.
- 6. Chen, C.C., M.A. Grimbaldeston, M. Tsai, et al. 2005. Identification of mast cell progenitors in adult mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102:11408-11413.
- 7. Kondo, M., I.L. Weissman, and K. Akashi. 1997. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell*. 91:661-672.
- Martin, C.H., I. Aifantis, M.L. Scimone, et al. 2003. Efficient thymic immigration of B220+ lymphoid-restricted bone marrow cells with T precursor potential. *Nat Immunol*. 4:866-873.
- 9. Schwarz, B.A., and A. Bhandoola. 2004. Circulating hematopoietic progenitors with T lineage potential. *Nat Immunol.* 5:953-960.
- Choi, K., M. Kennedy, A. Kazarov, et al. 1998. A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. *Development*. 125:725-732.
- 11. Keller, G., G. Lacaud, and S. Robertson. 1999. Development of the hematopoietic system in the mouse. *Exp Hematol*. 27:777-787.
- 12. Mikkola, H.K., Y. Fujiwara, T.M. Schlaeger, et al. 2003. Expression of CD41 marks the initiation of definitive hematopoiesis in the mouse embryo. *Blood*. 101:508-516.
- 13. Zhu, J., and S.G. Emerson. 2002. Hematopoietic cytokines, transcription factors and lineage commitment. *Oncogene*. 21:3295-3313.
- 14. Weissman, I.L. 2000. Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration, and units in evolution. *Cell*. 100:157-168.
- 15. Cumano, A., and I.I. Godin. 2001. Pluripotent hematopoietic stem cell development during embryogenesis. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 13:166-171.
- Godin, I., J.A. Garcia-Porrero, F. Dieterlen-Lievre, et al. 1999. Stem cell emergence and hemopoietic activity are incompatible in mouse intraembryonic sites. *J Exp Med*. 190:43-52.
- 17. Bertrand, J.Y., S. Giroux, R. Golub, et al. 2005. Characterization of purified intraembryonic hematopoietic stem cells as a tool to define their site of origin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102:134-139.
- 18. de Bruijn, M.F., X. Ma, C. Robin, et al. 2002. Hematopoietic stem cells localize to the endothelial cell layer in the midgestation mouse aorta. *Immunity*. 16:673-683.
- 19. Christensen, J.L., D.E. Wright, A.J. Wagers, et al. 2004. Circulation and chemotaxis of fetal hematopoietic stem cells. *PLoS Biol*. 2:E75.
- Delassus, S., and A. Cumano. 1996. Circulation of hematopoietic progenitors in the mouse embryo. *Immunity*. 4:97-106.
- 21. Morrison, S.J., H.D. Hemmati, A.M. Wandycz, et al. 1995. The purification and characterization of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 92:10302-10306.

- Ikuta, K., and I.L. Weissman. 1992. Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A. 89:1502-1506.
- 23. Lansdorp, P., W. Dragowska, and H. Mayani. 1993. Ontogeny-related changes in proliferative potential of human hematopoietic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:787-791.
- 24. Rebel, V.I., C.L. Miller, G.R. Thornbury, et al. 1996. A comparison of long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells in fetal liver and adult bone marrow from the mouse. *Exp Hematol.* 24:638-648.
- Jordan, C.T., C.M. Astle, J. Zawadzki, et al. 1995. Long-term repopulating abilities of enriched fetal liver stem cells measured by competitive repopulation. *Exp Hematol*. 23:1011-1015.
- 26. Rebel, V., C. Miller, C. Eaves, et al. 1996. The repopulation potential of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells in mice exceeds that of their liver adult bone marrow counterparts. *Blood*. 87:3500-3507.
- Potocnik, A.J., C. Brakebusch, and R. Fassler. 2000. Fetal and adult hematopoietic stem cells require beta1 integrin function for colonizing fetal liver, spleen, and bone marrow. *Immunity*. 12:653-663.
- Palis, J., R.J. Chan, A. Koniski, et al. 2001. Spatial and temporal emergence of high proliferative potential hematopoietic precursors during murine embryogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98:4528-4533.
- 29. Mendes, S.C., C. Robin, and E. Dzierzak. 2005. Mesenchymal progenitor cells localize within hematopoietic sites throughout ontogeny. *Development*. 132:1127-1136.
- 30. Traver, D., T. Miyamoto, J. Christensen, et al. 2001. Fetal liver myelopoiesis occurs through distinct, prospectively isolatable progenitor subsets. *Blood*. 98:627-635.
- Gothert, J.R., S.E. Gustin, M.A. Hall, et al. 2005. In vivo fate-tracing studies using the Scl stem cell enhancer: embryonic hematopoietic stem cells significantly contribute to adult hematopoiesis. *Blood*. 105:2724-2732.
- Moore, M.A., and D. Metcalf. 1970. Ontogeny of the haemopoietic system: yolk sac origin of in vivo and in vitro colony forming cells in the developing mouse embryo. *Br J Haematol.* 18:279-296.
- Cumano, A., J.C. Ferraz, M. Klaine, et al. 2001. Intraembryonic, but not yolk sac hematopoietic precursors, isolated before circulation, provide long-term multilineage reconstitution. *Immunity*. 15:477-485.
- 34. Medvinsky, A., and E. Dzierzak. 1996. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. *Cell*. 86:897-906.
- 35. Yoder, M.C., K. Hiatt, P. Dutt, et al. 1997. Characterization of definitive lymphohematopoietic stem cells in the day 9 murine yolk sac. *Immunity*. 7:335-344.
- Orkin, S.H., and L.I. Zon. 2002. Hematopoiesis and stem cells: plasticity versus developmental heterogeneity. *Nat Immunol.* 3:323-328.
- Matsuoka, S., K. Tsuji, H. Hisakawa, et al. 2001. Generation of definitive hematopoietic stem cells from murine early yolk sac and paraaortic splanchnopleures by aorta-gonadmesonephros region-derived stromal cells. *Blood*. 98:6-12.
- Walker, L., A. Carlson, H.T. Tan-Pertel, et al. 2001. The notch receptor and its ligands are selectively expressed during hematopoietic development in the mouse. *Stem Cells*. 19:543-552.
- Turpen, J.B., C.M. Kelley, P.E. Mead, et al. 1997. Bipotential primitive-definitive hematopoietic progenitors in the vertebrate embryo. *Immunity*. 7:325-334.
- 40. McCulloch, E.A., and J.E. Till. 1960. The radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells, determined by quantitative marrow transplantation into irradiated mice. *Radiat Res.* 13:115-125.

- 41. Becker, A.J., C.E. Mc, and J.E. Till. 1963. Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. *Nature*. 197:452-454.
- Kiel, M.J., T. Iwashita, O.H. Yilmaz, et al. 2005. Spatial differences in hematopoiesis but not in stem cells indicate a lack of regional patterning in definitive hematopoietic stem cells. *Dev Biol.* 283:29-39.
- 43. Yang, L., D. Bryder, J. Adolfsson, et al. 2004. Identification of Lin-Sca1+kit+CD34+Flt3- short-term hematopoietic stem cells capable of rapidly reconstituting and rescuing myeloablated recipients. *Blood*.
- 44. Lagasse, E., J.A. Shizuru, N. Uchida, et al. 2001. Toward regenerative medicine. *Immunity*. 14:425-436.
- 45. Matsuzaki, Y., K. Kinjo, R. Mulligan, et al. 2004. Unexpectedly efficient homing capacity of purified murine hematopoietic stem cells. *Immunity*. 20:87-93.
- Osawa, M., K. Hanada, H. Hamada, et al. 1996. Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34- low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. *Science*. 273:242-245.
- 47. Bradford, G.B., B. Williams, R. Rossi, et al. 1997. Quiescence, cycling, and turnover in the primitive hematopoietic stem cell compartment. *Exp Hematol.* 25:445-453.
- Cheshier, S.H., S.J. Morrison, X. Liao, et al. 1999. In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self- renewing hematopoietic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A. 96:3120-3125.
- Steinman, R.A. 2002. Cell cycle regulators and hematopoiesis. *Oncogene*. 21:3403-3413.
- Mantel, C.R., S.E. Braun, Y. Lee, et al. 2001. The interphase microtubule damage checkpoint defines an S-phase commitment point and does not require p21(waf-1). *Blood.* 97:1505-1507.
- 51. Pardee, A.B. 1989. G₁ Events and Regulation of Cell Proliferation. *Science*. 246:603-608.
- 52. Cheng, T. 2004. Cell cycle inhibitors in normal and tumor stem cells. *Oncogene*. 23:7256-7266.
- Huang, S., P. Law, K. Francis, et al. 1999. Symmetry of initial cell divisions among primitive hematopoietic progenitors is independent of ontogenic age and regulatory molecules. *Blood*. 94:2595-2604.
- 54. Uchida, N., B. Dykstra, K.J. Lyons, et al. 2003. Different in vivo repopulating activities of purified hematopoietic stem cells before and after being stimulated to divide in vitro with the same kinetics. *Exp Hematol*. 31:1338-1347.
- Cheng, T., N. Rodrigues, H. Shen, et al. 2000. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Quiescence Maintained by p21cip1/waf1. *Science*. 287:1804-1808.
- Walkley, C.R., M.L. Fero, W.M. Chien, et al. 2005. Negative cell-cycle regulators cooperatively control self-renewal and differentiation of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* 7:172-178.
- 57. Hock, H., M.J. Hamblen, H.M. Rooke, et al. 2004. Gfi-1 restricts proliferation and preserves functional integrity of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*.
- Park, I.K., D. Qian, M. Kiel, et al. 2003. Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult selfrenewing haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*. 423:302-305.
- 59. Iwama, A., H. Oguro, M. Negishi, et al. 2004. Enhanced self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells mediated by the polycomb gene product Bmi-1. *Immunity*. 21:843-851.
- 60. Lessard, J., and G. Sauvageau. 2003. Bmi-1 determines the proliferative capacity of normal and leukaemic stem cells. *Nature*. 423:255-260.

- 61. Iscove, N.N., and K. Nawa. 1997. Hematopoietic stem cells expand during serial transplantation in vivo without apparent exhaustion. *Curr Biol.* 7:805-808.
- 62. Fleming, W.H., E.J. Alpern, N. Uchida, et al. 1993. Functional heterogeneity is associated with the cell cycle status of murine hematopoietic stem cells. *J Cell Biol*. 122:897-902.
- 63. Habibian, H.K., S.O. Peters, C.C. Hsieh, et al. 1998. The fluctuating phenotype of the lymphohematopoietic stem cell with cell cycle transit. *J Exp Med.* 188:393-398.
- 64. Orschell-Traycoff, C.M., K. Hiatt, R.N. Dagher, et al. 2000. Homing and engraftment potential of Sca-1(+)lin(-) cells fractionated on the basis of adhesion molecule expression and position in cell cycle. *Blood.* 96:1380-1387.
- 65. Glimm, H., I.H. Oh, and C.J. Eaves. 2000. Human hematopoietic stem cells stimulated to proliferate in vitro lose engraftment potential during their S/G(2)/M transit and do not reenter G(0). *Blood*. 96:4185-4193.
- Jetmore, A., P.A. Plett, X. Tong, et al. 2002. Homing efficiency, cell cycle kinetics, and survival of quiescent and cycling human CD34(+) cells transplanted into conditioned NOD/SCID recipients. *Blood*. 99:1585-1593.
- 67. Jan, Y.N., and L.Y. Jan. 1998. Asymmetric cell division. Nature. 392:775-778.
- Takano, H., H. Ema, K. Sudo, et al. 2004. Asymmetric Division and Lineage Commitment at the Level of Hematopoietic Stem Cells: Inference from Differentiation in Daughter Cell and Granddaughter Cell Pairs. J. Exp. Med. 199:295-302.
- 69. Rossi, D.J., D. Bryder, J.M. Zahn, et al. 2005. Cell intrinsic alterations underlie hematopoietic stem cell aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102:9194-9199.
- 70. Chen, J. 2004. Senescence and functional failure in hematopoietic stem cells. *Exp Hematol.* 32:1025-1032.
- 71. Reya, T., A.W. Duncan, L. Ailles, et al. 2003. A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*. 423:409-414.
- 72. Wilson, A., M.J. Murphy, T. Oskarsson, et al. 2004. c-Myc controls the balance between hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Genes Dev.* 18:2747-2763.
- 73. Samper, E., P. Fernandez, R. Eguia, et al. 2002. Long-term repopulating ability of telomerase-deficient murine hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood*. 99:2767-2775.
- 74. Allsopp, R.C., G.B. Morin, R. DePinho, et al. 2003. Telomerase is required to slow telomere shortening and extend replicative lifespan of HSC during serial transplantation. *Blood*. 27:27.
- 75. Allsopp, R.C., S. Cheshier, and I.L. Weissman. 2001. Telomere shortening accompanies increased cell cycle activity during serial transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells. *J Exp Med.* 193:917-924.
- 76. Adolfsson, J., R. Mansson, N. Buza-Vidas, et al. 2005. Identification of Flt3+ lymphomyeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. *Cell*. 121:295-306.
- 77. Adolfsson, J., O.J. Borge, D. Bryder, et al. 2001. Upregulation of Flt3 expression within the bone marrow Lin(-)Sca1(+)c- kit(+) stem cell compartment is accompanied by loss of self-renewal capacity. *Immunity*. 15:659-669.
- Dorie, M.J., M.A. Maloney, and H.M. Patt. 1979. Turnover of circulating hematopoietic stem cells. *Exp Hematol.* 7:483-489.
- 79. Wright, D.E., A.J. Wagers, A.P. Gulati, et al. 2001. Physiological migration of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Science*. 294:1933-1936.
- 80. Abkowitz, J.L., A.E. Robinson, S. Kale, et al. 2003. Mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells during homeostasis and after cytokine exposure. *Blood*. 102:1249-1253.
- Kronenwett, R., S. Martin, and R. Haas. 2000. The role of cytokines and adhesion molecules for mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells. *Stem Cells*. 18:320-330.

- McKinney-Freeman, S., and M.A. Goodell. 2004. Circulating hematopoietic stem cells do not efficiently home to bone marrow during homeostasis. *Experimental Hematology*. 32:868-876.
- Plett, P.A., S.M. Frankovitz, and C.M. Orschell-Traycoff. 2002. In vivo trafficking, cell cycle activity, and engraftment potential of phenotypically defined primitive hematopoietic cells after transplantation into irradiated or nonirradiated recipients. *Blood.* 100:3545-3552.
- Fleming, W.H., E.J. Alpern, N. Uchida, et al. 1993. Steel factor influences the distribution and activity of murine hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 90:3760-3764.
- Bodine, D., N. Seidel, K. Zsebo, et al. 1993. In vivo administration of stem cell factor to mice increases the absolute number of pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood*. 82:445-455.
- Attar, E.C., and D.T. Scadden. 2004. Regulation of hematopoietic stem cell growth. *Leukemia*. 18:1760-1768.
- 87. Arai, F., A. Hirao, M. Ohmura, et al. 2004. Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche. *Cell*. 118:149-161.
- 88. Calvi, L.M., G.B. Adams, K.W. Weibrecht, et al. 2003. Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nature*. 425:841-846.
- 89. Zhang, J., C. Niu, L. Ye, et al. 2003. Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. *Nature*. 425:836-841.
- 90. Kiger, A.A., D.L. Jones, C. Schulz, et al. 2001. Stem cell self-renewal specified by JAK-STAT activation in response to a support cell cue. *Science*. 294:2542-2545.
- 91. Tulina, N., and E. Matunis. 2001. Control of stem cell self-renewal in Drosophila spermatogenesis by JAK-STAT signaling. *Science*. 294:2546-2549.
- 92. Lord, B.I., and J.H. Hendry. 1972. The distribution of haemopoietic colony-forming units in the mouse femur, and its modification by x rays. *Br J Radiol*. 45:110-115.
- 93. Lord, B.I., N.G. Testa, and J.H. Hendry. 1975. The relative spatial distributions of CFUs and CFUc in the normal mouse femur. *Blood*. 46:65-72.
- 94. Lambertsen, R.H., and L. Weiss. 1984. A model of intramedullary hematopoietic microenvironments based on stereologic study of the distribution of endocloned marrow colonies. *Blood.* 63:287-297.
- 95. Enver, T., C.M. Heyworth, and T.M. Dexter. 1998. Do Stem Cells Play Dice? *Blood*. 92:348-351.
- 96. Quesenberry, P.J., G.A. Colvin, and J.F. Lambert. 2002. The chiaroscuro stem cell: a unified stem cell theory. *Blood*. 100:4266-4271.
- 97. Srour, E.F., R. Abonour, K. Cornetta, et al. 1999. Ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells: are we there yet? *J Hematother*. 8:93-102.
- Miller, C.L., and C.J. Eaves. 1997. Expansion in vitro of adult murine hematopoietic stem cells with transplantable lympho-myeloid reconstituting ability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 94:13648-13653.
- Bryder, D., and S.E. Jacobsen. 2000. Interleukin-3 supports expansion of long-term multilineage repopulating activity after multiple stem cell divisions in vitro. *Blood*. 96:1748-1755.
- 100. Sauvageau, G., N.N. Iscove, and R.K. Humphries. 2004. In vitro and in vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells. *Oncogene*. 23:7223-7232.
- Moore, K.A., H. Ema, and I.R. Lemischka. 1997. In vitro maintenance of highly purified, transplantable hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood*. 89:4337-4347.

- Glimm, H., and C.J. Eaves. 1999. Direct evidence for multiple self-renewal divisions of human in vivo repopulating hematopoietic cells in short-term culture. *Blood*. 94:2161-2168.
- 103. Wagers, A.J., J.L. Christensen, and I.L. Weissman. 2002. Cell fate determination from stem cells. *Gene Ther*. 9:606-612.
- 104. Phillips, R.L., A.J. Reinhart, and G. Van Zant. 1992. Genetic control of murine hematopoietic stem cell pool sizes and cycling kinetics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 89:11607-11611.
- 105. Till, J.E., E.A. McCulloch, and L. Siminovitch. 1964. A Stochastic Model of Stem Cell Proliferation, Based on the Growth of Spleen Colony-Forming Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 51:29-36.
- 106. Ogawa, M. 1999. Stochastic model revisited. Int J Hematol. 69:2-5.
- 107. Greaves, M.F., A.T. Maia, J.L. Wiemels, et al. 2003. Leukemia in twins: lessons in natural history. *Blood*. 102:2321-2333.
- 108. Metcalf, D. 1998. Lineage Commitment and Maturation in Hematopoietic Cells: The Case for Extrinsic Regulation. *Blood*. 92:345b-347.
- Morrison, S.J., and I.L. Weissman. 1994. The long-term repopulating subset of hematopoietic stem cells is deterministic and isolatable by phenotype. *Immunity*. 1:661-673.
- Muller-Sieburg, C.E., R.H. Cho, M. Thoman, et al. 2002. Deterministic regulation of hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Blood*. 100:1302-1309.
- 111. Sitnicka, E., D. Bryder, K. Theilgaard-Monch, et al. 2002. Key Role of flt3 Ligand in Regulation of the Common Lymphoid Progenitor but Not in Maintenance of the Hematopoietic Stem Cell Pool. *Immunity*. 17:463.
- 112. Metcalf, D. 1993. Hematopoietic regulators: redundancy or subtlety? *Blood*. 82:3515-3523.
- 113. Akashi, K., M. Kondo, and I.L. Weissman. 1998. Role of interleukin-7 in T-cell development from hematopoietic stem cells. *Immunol Rev.* 165:13-28.
- 114. Kondo, M., D.C. Scherer, T. Miyamoto, et al. 2000. Cell-fate conversion of lymphoidcommitted progenitors by instructive actions of cytokines. *Nature*. 407:383-386.
- 115. Ogawa, M. 1993. Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood*. 81:2844-2853.
- 116. Hanahan, D., and R.A. Weinberg. 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 100:57-70.
- McHale, C.M., and M.T. Smith. 2004. Prenatal origin of chromosomal translocations in acute childhood leukemia: implications and future directions. *Am J Hematol*. 75:254-257.
- 118. Hope, K.J., L. Jin, and J.E. Dick. 2004. Acute myeloid leukemia originates from a hierarchy of leukemic stem cell classes that differ in self-renewal capacity. *Nat Immunol.* 5:738-743.
- 119. Yuan, Y., L. Zhou, T. Miyamoto, et al. 2001. AML1-ETO expression is directly involved in the development of acute myeloid leukemia in the presence of additional mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98:10398-10403.
- 120. Reya, T., S.J. Morrison, M.F. Clarke, et al. 2001. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*. 414:105-111.
- Castor, A., L. Nilsson, I. Astrand-Grundstrom, et al. 2005. Distinct patterns of hematopoietic stem cell involvement in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Med.* 11:630-637.
- 122. Nilsson, L., I. Astrand-Grundstrom, I. Arvidsson, et al. 2000. Isolation and characterization of hematopoietic progenitor/stem cells in 5q-deleted myelodysplastic

syndromes: evidence for involvement at the hematopoietic stem cell level. *Blood*. 96:2012-2021.

- Cozzio, A., E. Passegue, P.M. Ayton, et al. 2003. Similar MLL-associated leukemias arising from self-renewing stem cells and short-lived myeloid progenitors. *Genes Dev.* 17:3029-3035.
- 124. Passegue, E., C.H. Jamieson, L.E. Ailles, et al. 2003. Normal and leukemic hematopoiesis: are leukemias a stem cell disorder or a reacquisition of stem cell characteristics? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100 Suppl 1:11842-11849.
- 125. Jaiswal, S., D. Traver, T. Miyamoto, et al. 2003. Expression of BCR/ABL and BCL-2 in myeloid progenitors leads to myeloid leukemias. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100:10002-10007.
- 126. Pardal, R., M.F. Clarke, and S.J. Morrison. 2003. Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 3:895-902.
- 127. Jamieson, C.H.M., L.E. Ailles, S.J. Dylla, et al. 2004. Granulocyte-Macrophage Progenitors as Candidate Leukemic Stem Cells in Blast-Crisis CML. N Engl J Med. 351:657-667.
- Ford, C.E., J.L. Hamerton, D.W. Barnes, et al. 1956. Cytological identification of radiation-chimaeras. *Nature*. 177:452-454.
- 129. Thomas, E.D. 1995. Bone marrow transplantation from bench to bedside. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 770:34-41.
- Varnum-Finney, B., L. Xu, C. Brashem-Stein, et al. 2000. Pluripotent, cytokinedependent, hematopoietic stem cells are immortalized by constitutive Notch1 signaling. *Nat Med.* 6:1278-1281.
- de Haan, G., E. Weersing, B. Dontje, et al. 2003. In vitro generation of long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells by fibroblast growth factor-1. *Dev Cell*. 4:241-251.
- 132. Willert, K., J.D. Brown, E. Danenberg, et al. 2003. Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature*. 423:448-452.
- Krosl, J., P. Austin, N. Beslu, et al. 2003. In vitro expansion of hematopoietic stem cells by recombinant TAT-HOXB4 protein. *Nat Med.* 9:1428-1432.
- 134. Antonchuk, J., G. Sauvageau, and R.K. Humphries. 2002. HOXB4-Induced Expansion of Adult Hematopoietic Stem Cells Ex Vivo. *Cell*. 109:39-45.
- 135. Amsellem, S., F. Pflumio, D. Bardinet, et al. 2003. Ex vivo expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells by direct delivery of the HOXB4 homeoprotein. *Nat Med.* 9:1423-1427.
- 136. Thomson, J.A., J. Itskovitz-Eldor, S.S. Shapiro, et al. 1998. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science*. 282:1145-1147.
- 137. Wagers, A.J., and I.L. Weissman. 2004. Plasticity of Adult Stem Cells. *Cell*. 116:639-648.
- 138. Spangrude, G.J., S. Heimfeld, and I.L. Weissman. 1988. Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. *Science*. 241:58-62.
- 139. Newmark, P.A., and A. Sanchez Alvarado. 2002. Not your father's planarian: a classic model enters the era of functional genomics. *Nat Rev Genet*. 3:210-219.
- Herzog, E.L., L. Chai, and D.S. Krause. 2003. Plasticity of marrow-derived stem cells. Blood. 102:3483-3493.
- 141. Blau, H.M., T.R. Brazelton, and J.M. Weimann. 2001. The evolving concept of a stem cell: entity or function? *Cell*. 105:829-841.
- 142. Clarke, D.L., C.B. Johansson, J. Wilbertz, et al. 2000. Generalized potential of adult neural stem cells. *Science*. 288:1660-1663.

- Geiger, H., S. Sick, C. Bonifer, et al. 1998. Globin gene expression is reprogrammed in chimeras generated by injecting adult hematopoietic stem cells into mouse blastocysts. *Cell*. 93:1055-1065.
- 144. Petersen, B.E., W.C. Bowen, K.D. Patrene, et al. 1999. Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells. *Science*. 284:1168-1170.
- 145. Lagasse, E., H. Connors, M. Al-Dhalimy, et al. 2000. Purified hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into hepatocytes in vivo. *Nat Med.* 6:1229-1234.
- 146. Jackson, K.A., S.M. Majka, H. Wang, et al. 2001. Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells. J Clin Invest. 107:1395-1402.
- Orlic, D., J. Kajstura, S. Chimenti, et al. 2001. Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. *Nature*. 410:701-705.
- 148. Orlic, D., J. Kajstura, S. Chimenti, et al. 2001. Mobilized bone marrow cells repair the infarcted heart, improving function and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98:10344-10349.
- Ferrari, G., G. Cusella-De Angelis, M. Coletta, et al. 1998. Muscle regeneration by bone marrow-derived myogenic progenitors. *Science*. 279:1528-1530.
- Gussoni, E., Y. Soneoka, C.D. Strickland, et al. 1999. Dystrophin expression in the mdx mouse restored by stem cell transplantation. *Nature*. 401:390-394.
- LaBarge, M.A., and H.M. Blau. 2002. Biological progression from adult bone marrow to mononucleate muscle stem cell to multinucleate muscle fiber in response to injury. *Cell*. 111:589-601.
- 152. Brazelton, T.R., F.M. Rossi, G.I. Keshet, et al. 2000. From marrow to brain: expression of neuronal phenotypes in adult mice. *Science*. 290:1775-1779.
- 153. Mezey, E., K.J. Chandross, G. Harta, et al. 2000. Turning blood into brain: cells bearing neuronal antigens generated in vivo from bone marrow. *Science*. 290:1779-1782.
- 154. Priller, J., D.A. Persons, F.F. Klett, et al. 2001. Neogenesis of cerebellar Purkinje neurons from gene-marked bone marrow cells in vivo. *J Cell Biol*. 155:733-738.
- 155. Ianus, A., G.G. Holz, N.D. Theise, et al. 2003. In vivo derivation of glucose-competent pancreatic endocrine cells from bone marrow without evidence of cell fusion. *J Clin Invest.* 111:843-850.
- Hess, D., L. Li, M. Martin, et al. 2003. Bone marrow-derived stem cells initiate pancreatic regeneration. *Nat Biotechnol.* 21:763-770.
- 157. Krause, D.S., N.D. Theise, M.I. Collector, et al. 2001. Multi-organ, multi-lineage engraftment by a single bone marrow-derived stem cell. *Cell*. 105:369-377.
- 158. Bailey, A.S., S. Jiang, M. Afentoulis, et al. 2003. Transplanted adult hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into functional endothelial cells. *Blood*:2003-2005-1684.
- Grant, M.B., W.S. May, S. Caballero, et al. 2002. Adult hematopoietic stem cells provide functional hemangioblast activity during retinal neovascularization. *Nat Med.* 8:607-612.
- Jackson, K.A., T. Mi, and M.A. Goodell. 1999. Hematopoietic potential of stem cells isolated from murine skeletal muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 96:14482-14486.
- Bjornson, C.R., R.L. Rietze, B.A. Reynolds, et al. 1999. Turning brain into blood: a hematopoietic fate adopted by adult neural stem cells in vivo. *Science*. 283:534-537.
- 162. Chien, K.R. 2004. Stem cells: Lost in translation. Nature. 428:607-608.
- Assmus, B., V. Schachinger, C. Teupe, et al. 2002. Transplantation of Progenitor Cells and Regeneration Enhancement in Acute Myocardial Infarction (TOPCARE-AMI). *Circulation*. 106:3009-3017.
- 164. Strauer, B.E., M. Brehm, T. Zeus, et al. 2002. Repair of infarcted myocardium by autologous intracoronary mononuclear bone marrow cell transplantation in humans. *Circulation*. 106:1913-1918.

- 165. Stamm, C., B. Westphal, H.D. Kleine, et al. 2003. Autologous bone-marrow stem-cell transplantation for myocardial regeneration. *Lancet*. 361:45-46.
- Duelli, D., and Y. Lazebnik. 2003. Cell fusion: a hidden enemy? *Cancer Cell*. 3:445-448.
- 167. Kang, H.-J., H.-S. Kim, S.-Y. Zhang, et al. 2004. Effects of intracoronary infusion of peripheral blood stem-cells mobilised with granulocyte-colony stimulating factor on left ventricular systolic function and restenosis after coronary stenting in myocardial infarction: the MAGIC cell randomised clinical trial. *The Lancet*. 363:751-756.
- Yoon, Y.S., J.S. Park, T. Tkebuchava, et al. 2004. Unexpected severe calcification after transplantation of bone marrow cells in acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. 109:3154-3157.
- Anderson, D.J., F.H. Gage, and I.L. Weissman. 2001. Can stem cells cross lineage boundaries? *Nat Med.* 7:393-395.
- Wagers, A.J., R.I. Sherwood, J.L. Christensen, et al. 2002. Little evidence for developmental plasticity of adult hematopoietic stem cells. *Science*. 297:2256-2259.
- 171. Balsam, L.B., A.J. Wagers, J.L. Christensen, et al. 2004. Haematopoietic stem cells adopt mature haematopoietic fates in ischaemic myocardium. *Nature*. advanced online publication.
- 172. Murry, C.E., M.H. Soonpaa, H. Reinecke, et al. 2004. Haematopoietic stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiac myocytes in myocardial infarcts. *Nature*. 428:664-668.
- 173. Nygren, J.M., S. Jovinge, M. Breitbach, et al. 2004. Bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells generate cardiomyocytes at a low frequency through cell fusion, but not transdifferentiation. *Nat Med.* 10:494-501.
- Lechner, A., Y.G. Yang, R.A. Blacken, et al. 2004. No evidence for significant transdifferentiation of bone marrow into pancreatic beta-cells in vivo. *Diabetes*. 53:616-623.
- 175. Choi, J.B., H. Uchino, K. Azuma, et al. 2003. Little evidence of transdifferentiation of bone marrow-derived cells into pancreatic beta cells. *Diabetologia*. 46:1366-1374.
- 176. Ono, K., K. Yoshihara, H. Suzuki, et al. 2003. Preservation of hematopoietic properties in transplanted bone marrow cells in the brain. *J Neurosci Res.* 72:503-507.
- 177. Massengale, M., A.J. Wagers, H. Vogel, et al. 2005. Hematopoietic cells maintain hematopoietic fates upon entering the brain. *J Exp Med.* 201:1579-1589.
- Issarachai, S., G.V. Priestley, B. Nakamoto, et al. 2002. Cells with hemopoietic potential residing in muscle are itinerant bone marrow-derived cells. *Exp Hematol*. 30:366-373.
- Morshead, C.M., P. Benveniste, N.N. Iscove, et al. 2002. Hematopoietic competence is a rare property of neural stem cells that may depend on genetic and epigenetic alterations. *Nat Med.* 8:268-273.
- McKinney-Freeman, S.L., K.A. Jackson, F.D. Camargo, et al. 2002. Muscle-derived hematopoietic stem cells are hematopoietic in origin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99:1341-1346.
- 181. Castro, R.F., K.A. Jackson, M.A. Goodell, et al. 2002. Failure of bone marrow cells to transdifferentiate into neural cells in vivo. *Science*. 297:1299.
- 182. Geiger, H., J.M. True, B. Grimes, et al. 2002. Analysis of the hematopoietic potential of muscle-derived cells in mice. *Blood*. 100:721-723.
- Kawada, H., and M. Ogawa. 2001. Bone marrow origin of hematopoietic progenitors and stem cells in murine muscle. *Blood*. 98:2008-2013.
- Wang, X., H. Willenbring, Y. Akkari, et al. 2003. Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. *Nature*. 422:897-901.

- 185. Vassilopoulos, G., P.R. Wang, and D.W. Russell. 2003. Transplanted bone marrow regenerates liver by cell fusion. *Nature*. 422:901-904.
- Alvarez-Dolado, M., R. Pardal, J.M. Garcia-Verdugo, et al. 2003. Fusion of bonemarrow-derived cells with Purkinje neurons, cardiomyocytes and hepatocytes. *Nature*. 425:968-973.
- 187. Ying, Q.L., J. Nichols, E.P. Evans, et al. 2002. Changing potency by spontaneous fusion. *Nature*. 416:545-548.
- 188. Terada, N., T. Hamazaki, M. Oka, et al. 2002. Bone marrow cells adopt the phenotype of other cells by spontaneous cell fusion. *Nature*. 416:542-545.
- 189. Willenbring, H., A.S. Bailey, M. Foster, et al. 2004. Myelomonocytic cells are sufficient for therapeutic cell fusion in liver. 10:744-748.
- Camargo, F.D., M. Finegold, and M.A. Goodell. 2004. Hematopoietic myelomonocytic cells are the major source of hepatocyte fusion partners. J. Clin. Invest. 113:1266-1270.
- 191. Harris, R.G., E.L. Herzog, E.M. Bruscia, et al. 2004. Lack of a Fusion Requirement for Development of Bone Marrow-Derived Epithelia. *Science*. 305:90-93.
- 192. Quesenberry, P.J., G. Dooner, M. Dooner, et al. 2005. Developmental biology: Ignoratio elenchi: red herrings in stem cell research. *Science*. 308:1121-1122.
- 193. Theise, N.D., D.S. Krause, and S. Sharkis. 2003. Comment on "Little Evidence for Developmental Plasticity of Adult Hematopoietic Stem Cells". *Science*. 299:1317a-.
- 194. Kajstura, J., M. Rota, B. Whang, et al. 2004. Bone Marrow Cells Differentiate in Cardiac Cell Lineages After Infarction Independently of Cell Fusion. *Circ Res.*
- 195. Wagers, A.J., R.I. Sherwood, J.L. Christensen, et al. 2003. Response to Comment on "Little Evidence for Developmental Plasticity of Adult Hematopoietic Stem Cells". *Science*. 299:1317b-.
- 196. Blau, H., T. Brazelton, G. Keshet, et al. 2002. Something in the Eye of the Beholder. *Science*. 298:361c-363.
- 197. Ogle, B.M., M. Cascalho, and J.L. Platt. 2005. Biological implications of cell fusion. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.*
- 198. Chen, E.H., and E.N. Olson. 2005. Unveiling the mechanisms of cell-cell fusion. *Science*. 308:369-373.
- 199. Primakoff, P., and D.G. Myles. 2002. Penetration, Adhesion, and Fusion in Mammalian Sperm-Egg Interaction. *Science*. 296:2183-2185.
- 200. Wakelam, M.J. 1985. The fusion of myoblasts. Biochem J. 228:1-12.
- Vignery, A. 2000. Osteoclasts and giant cells: macrophage-macrophage fusion mechanism. *Int J Exp Pathol.* 81:291-304.
- 202. Benirschke, K. 1998. Remarkable placenta. Clin Anat. 11:194-205.
- 203. Anderson, J. 2000. Multinucleated giant cells. Curr Opin Hematol. 7:40-47.
- 204. Weimann, J.M., C.A. Charlton, T.R. Brazelton, et al. 2003. Contribution of transplanted bone marrow cells to Purkinje neurons in human adult brains. *PNAS*. 100:2088-2093.
- 205. Weimann, J.M., C.B. Johansson, A. Trejo, et al. 2003. Stable reprogrammed heterokaryons form spontaneously in Purkinje neurons after bone marrow transplant. *Nat Cell Biol.* 5:959-966.
- Camargo, F.D., R. Green, Y. Capetenaki, et al. 2003. Single hematopoietic stem cells generate skeletal muscle through myeloid intermediates. *Nat Med.* 9:1520-1527.
- Corbel, S.Y., A. Lee, L. Yi, et al. 2003. Contribution of hematopoietic stem cells to skeletal muscle. *Nat Med.* 9:1528-1532.
- Lapidos, K.A., Y.E. Chen, J.U. Earley, et al. 2004. Transplanted hematopoietic stem cells demonstrate impaired sarcoglycan expression after engraftment into cardiac and skeletal muscle. *J Clin Invest.* 114:1577-1585.

- Matsuura, K., H. Wada, T. Nagai, et al. 2004. Cardiomyocytes fuse with surrounding noncardiomyocytes and reenter the cell cycle. *J Cell Biol.* 167:351-363.
- 210. Doyonnas, R., M.A. LaBarge, A. Sacco, et al. 2004. Hematopoietic contribution to skeletal muscle regeneration by myelomonocytic precursors. *PNAS*:0405361101.
- 211. Benveniste, P., C. Cantin, D. Hyam, et al. 2003. Hematopoietic stem cells engraft in mice with absolute efficiency. *Nat Immunol*. 4:708-713.
- 212. Spangrude, G., D. Brooks, and D. Tumas. 1995. Long-term repopulation of irradiated mice with limiting numbers of purified hematopoietic stem cells: in vivo expansion of stem cell phenotype but not function. *Blood*. 85:1006-1016.
- Morrison, S.J., A.M. Wandycz, H.D. Hemmati, et al. 1997. Identification of a lineage of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. *Development*. 124:1929-1939.
- 214. Sato, T., J.H. Laver, and M. Ogawa. 1999. Reversible Expression of CD34 by Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Blood*. 94:2548-2554.
- 215. Zhang, C.C., and H.F. Lodish. 2005. Murine hematopoietic stem cells change their surface phenotype during ex vivo expansion. *Blood*. 105:4314-4320.
- Ito, T., F. Tajima, and M. Ogawa. 2000. Developmental changes of CD34 expression by murine hematopoietic stem cells. *Exp Hematol.* 28:1269-1273.
- 217. Wolf, N.S., A. Kone, G.V. Priestley, et al. 1993. In vivo and in vitro characterization of long-term repopulating primitive hematopoietic cells isolated by sequential Hoechst 33342- rhodamine 123 FACS selection. *Exp Hematol.* 21:614-622.
- 218. Zhou, S., J.D. Schuetz, K.D. Bunting, et al. 2001. The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the side-population phenotype. *Nat Med.* 7:1028-1034.
- Goodell, M.A., K. Brose, G. Paradis, et al. 1996. Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med. 183:1797-1806.
- Uchida, N., B. Dykstra, K. Lyons, et al. 2004. ABC transporter activities of murine hematopoietic stem cells vary according to their developmental and activation status. *Blood.* 103:4487-4495.
- 221. Kiel, M.J., O.H. Yilmaz, T. Iwashita, et al. 2005. SLAM Family Receptors Distinguish Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells and Reveal Endothelial Niches for Stem Cells. *Cell*. 121:1109-1121.
- 222. Zuniga-Pflucker, J.C. 2004. T-cell development made simple. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 4:67-72.
- 223. Harrison, D. 1980. Competitive repopulation: a new assay for long-term stem cell functional capacity. *Blood*. 55:77-81.
- Szilvassy, S.J., R.K. Humphries, P.M. Lansdorp, et al. 1990. Quantitative assay for totipotent reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells by a competitive repopulation strategy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 87:8736-8740.
- 225. Cao, Y.-A., A.J. Wagers, A. Beilhack, et al. 2004. Shifting foci of hematopoiesis during reconstitution from single stem cells. *PNAS*. 101:221-226.
- Sipkins, D.A., X. Wei, J.W. Wu, et al. 2005. In vivo imaging of specialized bone marrow endothelial microdomains for tumour engraftment. *Nature*. 435:969-973.
- 227. Askenasy, N., and D.L. Farkas. 2002. Optical imaging of PKH-labeled hematopoietic cells in recipient bone marrow in vivo. *Stem Cells*. 20:501-513.
- 228. Hardy, J., M. Edinger, M.H. Bachmann, et al. 2001. Bioluminescence imaging of lymphocyte trafficking in vivo. *Exp Hematol.* 29:1353-1360.
- 229. Wang, X., M. Rosol, S. Ge, et al. 2003. Dynamic tracking of human hematopoietic stem cell engraftment using in vivo bioluminescence imaging. *Blood*. 102:3478-3482.
- 230. Roell, W., Z.J. Lu, W. Bloch, et al. 2002. Cellular cardiomyoplasty improves survival after myocardial injury. *Circulation*. 105:2435-2441.

- Okabe, M., M. Ikawa, K. Kominami, et al. 1997. 'Green mice' as a source of ubiquitous green cells. *FEBS Lett.* 407:313-319.
- 232. Zambrowicz, B.P., A. Imamoto, S. Fiering, et al. 1997. Disruption of overlapping transcripts in the ROSA beta geo 26 gene trap strain leads to widespread expression of beta -galactosidase in mouse embryos and hematopoietic cells. *PNAS*. 94:3789-3794.
- 233. Reith, A.D., R. Rottapel, E. Giddens, et al. 1990. W mutant mice with mild or severe developmental defects contain distinct point mutations in the kinase domain of the c-kit receptor. *Genes Dev.* 4:390-400.
- Cao, X., E.W. Shores, J. Hu-Li, et al. 1995. Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor gamma chain. *Immunity*. 2:223-238.
- Tse, H.F., Y.L. Kwong, J.K. Chan, et al. 2003. Angiogenesis in ischaemic myocardium by intramyocardial autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell implantation. *Lancet*. 361:47-49.
- 236. Kamihata, H., H. Matsubara, T. Nishiue, et al. 2001. Implantation of bone marrow mononuclear cells into ischemic myocardium enhances collateral perfusion and regional function via side supply of angioblasts, angiogenic ligands, and cytokines. *Circulation*. 104:1046-1052.
- 237. Harada, M., Y. Qin, H. Takano, et al. 2005. G-CSF prevents cardiac remodeling after myocardial infarction by activating the Jak-Stat pathway in cardiomyocytes. *Nat Med.* 11:305-311.
- 238. Pomerantz, J., and H.M. Blau. 2004. Nuclear reprogramming: A key to stem cell function in regenerative medicine. 6:810-816.
- 239. Lemischka, I.R., D.H. Raulet, and R.C. Mulligan. 1986. Developmental potential and dynamic behavior of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell*. 45:917-927.
- Pawliuk, R., C. Eaves, and R.K. Humphries. 1996. Evidence of both ontogeny and transplant dose-regulated expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. *Blood*. 88:2852-2858.
- 241. Reddy, G.P., C.Y. Tiarks, L. Pang, et al. 1997. Cell cycle analysis and synchronization of pluripotent hematopoietic progenitor stem cells. *Blood*. 90:2293-2299.
- Ema, H., H. Takano, K. Sudo, et al. 2000. In vitro self-renewal division of hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med. 192:1281-1288.
- 243. Peters, S., E. Kittler, H. Ramshaw, et al. 1996. Ex vivo expansion of murine marrow cells with interleukin-3 (IL-3), IL- 6, IL-11, and stem cell factor leads to impaired engraftment in irradiated hosts. *Blood.* 87:30-37.
- 244. Fraser, C., S. Szilvassy, C. Eaves, et al. 1992. Proliferation of Totipotent Hematopoietic Stem Cells In vitro with Retention of Long-Term Competitive In vivo Reconstituting Ability. PNAS. 89:1968-1972.
- 245. Traycoff, C.M., K. Cornetta, M.C. Yoder, et al. 1996. Ex vivo expansion of murine hematopoietic progenitor cells generates classes of expanded cells possessing different levels of bone marrow repopulating potential. *Exp Hematol.* 24:299-306.
- 246. Lambert, J.-F., M. Liu, G.A. Colvin, et al. 2003. Marrow Stem Cells Shift Gene Expression and Engraftment Phenotype with Cell Cycle Transit. *J. Exp. Med.* 197:1563-1572.